

# Effect of viral RNA mimics and ISA virus infection

# on expression of key genes of

# the Atlantic salmon interferon system

# Øyvind Kileng

PhD thesis



A dissertation for the degree of philosophiae doctor

UNIVERSITY OF TROMSØ Norwegian College of Fishery Science Department of Marine Biotechnology

# Table of contents

Table of contents	1
Abbreviations	2
Summary	4
List of papers	7
1. Introduction	
1.1 The innate immune system	9
1.2 Interferons	9
1.3 Receptors involved in pathogen recognition	11
1.3.1 Cytoplasmic receptors	11
1.3.2 Toll-like receptors	13
1.4 Signalling pathways	16
1.4.1 The RIG-I/MDA5 signalling pathway	16
1.4.2 TLR3 signalling pathway	17
1.4.3 TLR7, 8 and 9 signalling pathway	18
1.5 Induction of IFN transcription	
1.5.1 Interferon regulatory factors	
1.5.2 NF-кВ	
1.6 IFN signalling through the Jak/STAT pathway	
1.7 Antiviral proteins induced by the IFN system	
1.7.1 Mx	
1.7.2 ISG15	
1.7.3 PKR	
1.7.4 2'-5' Oligoadenylate synthetase (OAS)	
1.8 Viral antagonism of the IFN system	
2.1 The IFN system of fish	
2.1.1 IFN genes in fish	
2.1.2 The salmon IFN promoter	
2.1.3 IFN signalling pathways in fish	
2.1.4 ISGs in fish	
2.2 Infectious salmon anemia virus (ISAV)	
Aims of study	
Summary of papers	
3. Discussion	
3.1 Poly I:C and S-27609 as modulators of the IFN response	
3.2 The role of IRF-7 in IFN-dependent immune responses in salmon	
3.3 In vitro interactions between salmon and ISAV	47
3.4 In vivo interactions between salmon and ISAV	50
3.5 ISAV S7ORF1 and S8ORF2- proteins with IFN antagonistic properties	51
3.6 Future perspectives	53
5. References	55

# Abbreviations

AP-1	Activated protein-1
APC	Antigen presenting cells
ATF-2	Activated transcription factor-2
CCV	Channel catfish herpesvirus
CD	Clusters of differentiation
CPSF	Cleavage and poly-adenylation specificity factor
CpG	Cytosine-phosphate-guanine
CTL	Cytotoxic T lymphocyte
DAI	DNA-dependent activator of IFN regulatory factors
DC	Dendritic cell
DRAF	dsRNA activated factor 1
ds	double stranded
ELF	Elongation initiation factor
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus
IFN	Interferon
IFNAR	IFN- $\alpha/\beta$ receptor
IHNV	Infectious haematopoietic necrosis virus
ΙκΒ	Inhibitor of NF-κB
IKK	IκB kinase
IL	Interleukin
IPNV	Infectious pancreatic necrosis virus
IRAK	IL-1 receptor associated kinase
IRF	IFN regulatory factor
ISAV	Infectious salmon anemia virus
ISG	IFN-stimulated gene
ISGF3	IFN-stimulated gene factor-3
ISRE	IFN-stimulated response element
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
MDA5	Melanoma-differentiation-associated gene

mDC	myeloid DC
МНС	Major histocompatibility complex
MyD88	Myeloid differentiation factor 88
NEMO	NF-κB essential modifier
NF-ĸB	Nuclear factor-ĸB
NK	Natural killer cells
NS	Non-structural
OAS	Oligoadenylate synthetase
ORF	Open reading frame
pDC	Plasmacytoid DC
PKR	Protein kinase R
PKZ	Z-DNA binding protein kinase
Poly I:C	Polyinosinic polycytidylic acid
RIG-I	Retinoic-acid-inducible gene I
Rip1	Receptor interacting protein-1
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
rSasa IFN–α1	Recombinant salmon IFN-a1
SS	Single stranded
STAT	Signal transducers and activators of transcription
TBK	Tank-binding kinase
THOV	Thogoto virus
TIR	Toll/IL-1 receptor
TLR	Toll-like receptor
TNF	Tumor necrosis factor
TRAF	TNF-related-associated factor
TRAM	TRIF-related adaptor molecule
TRIF	TIR-domain-containing adaptor protein inducing IFN- $\beta$
WNV	West Nile virus
VHSV	Viral hemorrhagic septicemia virus

# Summary

Atlantic salmon is the predominant species in Norwegian aquaculture industry, and viral outbreaks cause heavy economical losses every year. Although farmed salmon appears to be very sensitive to viral infections, this species and all bony fishes in general possess an immune system fully capable of handling these pathogens. In this work we have studied the type I interferon (IFN) system of salmon, which is critically important in the innate immune defences against viruses in all vertebrates. IFN is produced by virus infected cells and is secreted as an alarm protein that induces an antiviral state in neighbouring cells. This antiviral state is mediated by a variety of antiviral proteins encoded by IFN-stimulated genes (ISG).

The first stage in activation of the IFN system is induction of IFN transcription upon recognition of pathogens. Viruses are detected by a variety of cellular receptors which recognize conserved features associated with viral nucleic acids. These receptors are thoroughly studied in humans and mouse and even though the data in fish is scarce, genetic studies indicate that fish also possess similar receptors. We have investigated the stimulatory effect of two synthetic ligands that mimic single stranded (ss) and double stranded (ds) viral RNA and compared the immune response against the orthomyxovirus infectious salmon anemia virus (ISAV), which possess a segmented ssRNA genome. Polyinosinic polycytidylic acid (poly I:C) mimics viral dsRNA that is recognized by receptors in all nucleated cells. Our studies show that poly I:C induces IFN transcription both in vivo and in vitro.

Imidazoquinolines, in this work represented by S-27609, are nucleotide analogues that mimic ssRNA and is recognized by receptors in immune cells that respond to viral infection by producing high levels of IFN. S-27609 proved to be a potent inducer of IFN in salmon, but showed no stimulatory effect in salmon TO cells grown in culture. ISAV proved to be a powerful inducer of IFN both *in vivo* and *in vitro*. However, ISAV infection of TO cells

induced IFN transcription at considerably later time points compared to the kinetics observed after poly I:C stimulation.

Viral recognition by cellular receptors activates signalling pathways that regulate transcription of IFN and ISGs. The major regulator of IFN transcription in mammals is IFN regulatory factor (IRF) – 7, and we have studied the structure and function of a salmon IRF-7 like protein. Phylogenetic studies indicate close evolutionary relationship between salmon and other fish IRF-7, and a more distant to IRF-7 of higher vertebrates. At the structural level we identified several domains of the protein important for its function as an IFN regulatory transcription factor that is activated by virus infections. Functional studies revealed that IRF-7 expression is inducible by poly I:C, recombinant salmon IFN and ISAV infection, and that the protein is a positive regulator of the IFN promoter.

Activation of IRF-7 and other transcription factors results in transcription and synthesis of IFN. The secreted IFN binds to surface receptors present on all cells, and activates a signalling cascade that induces transcription of ISGs. Two of the best described ISGs are Mx and ISG15. Mx possesses antiviral properties against many viruses including infectious pancreatic necrosis virus (IPNV) that also infect salmon. Salmon responds to poly I:C and S-27609 stimulation by expressing high levels of Mx and ISG15 transcripts. Similar responses are seen after ISAV infection. However, TO cells respond almost immediately to ISAV infection by inducing Mx and ISG15 transcription even though IFN transcription is impaired. This suggest not only that ISAV antagonize IFN at the transcriptional level, but also that TO cells are able to synthesize important ISGs independent of IFN stimulation. Even though the IFN system of salmon is activated during ISAV infection, it does not protect the host against infection. This is best seen when stimulating TO cells with recombinant salmon

IFN prior to infection. IFN treatment makes TO cells resistant against IPNV infection, but IFN is not able to protect the cells against ISAV.

Orthomyxoviruses produce IFN antagonistic proteins during replication, and we have investigated two candidate genes from the ISAV genome. The two ISAV genes, known as S7ORF1 and S8ORF2, have different functions and are localized to different compartments in the infected cell. Using an IFN-promoter luciferase assay we observed that both genes had the ability to down regulate activation of the IFN promoter. The negative impact on the IFN promoter, the impaired IFN transcript kinetics in TO cells and the inability of recombinant salmon IFN to protect TO cells against ISAV infection indicate that the virus have adopted strategies that circumvent the actions of the IFN system.

# List of papers

# I. Kileng, Ø., Brundtland, M. I. and Robertsen, B.;

Infectious salmon anemia virus is a powerful inducer of key genes of the type I interferon system of Atlantic salmon, but is not inhibited by interferon (2007) Fish & Shellfish immunology 23; 378-389.

# II. Kileng, Ø., Albuquerque, A. and Robertsen, B.;

Induction of interferon system genes in Atlantic salmon by the imidazoquinoline S-27609, a ligand for Toll-like receptor 7 (2007) Fish & Shellfish immunology 24; 514-522.

# III. García-Rosado, E., Markussen, T., Kileng, Ø., Bækkevold, E. S.,Robertsen, B., Mjaaland, S. and Rimstad, E.;

Molecular and functional characterization of two infectious salmon anaemia virus (ISAV) proteins with type I interferon antagonizing activity (2008) Virus Research 133; 228-238.

# IV. Kileng, Ø., Workenhe, S. T., Bergan, V. and Robertsen, B.;

An Atlantic salmon IRF-7 gene identified by analysis of sequence and function and its expression compared with a STAT1 gene (2008). Manuscript.

# 1. Introduction

Farmed Atlantic salmon is highly susceptible to viral infections and viral diseases results in reduced production and economical losses in the Norwegian aquaculture industry every year. Recently the aquaculture industry in Chile was struck hard by outbreaks of infectious salmon anemia virus (ISAV), showing that viral infections cause problems for the industry on a global scale. The growth of the fish farming industry, and its problems with viral infections, has lead to an increased interest in understanding the immune system of fish.

The type I interferon (IFN) response is of crucial importance for immunity against viruses. IFN possess a central position in innate immunity and is essential for regulation of adaptive immune responses. Accordingly, viruses have developed mechanisms to antagonize the IFN response. Little is known about IFN induction pathways in fish and virtually nothing is known about how viruses antagonize IFN production in fish host cells. The main objective of this work has been to study functional aspects of the IFN system of salmon in response to viral infections. Firstly, we have compared the induction of IFNs and ISGs upon stimulation of two synthetic compounds that mimic viral RNA and that induce IFNs via different receptors and pathways in mammals. The dsRNA poly I:C induces IFNs via the RIG-I/MDA5 pathway or the TLR3 pathway, which activates IFN-β transcription through the activation of IRF-3, IRF-7 and NF-κB. The imidazoquinoline S-27609 induces IFN-α via the TLR7 pathway, which activates IRF-7. Secondly, because IRF-7 plays an important role in the two pathways, we have cloned and functionally studied an IRF-7 – like gene from salmon. Thirdly, we have chosen infectious salmon anemia virus (ISAV) as a model to study the interactions between the IFN system of salmon and viruses. These studies show that the IFN system of salmon is similar to that of higher vertebrates. However, because our knowledge about fish immunity is still rather limited, the introduction will focus on the mammalian IFN system followed by a summary of the present status in fish.

# 1.1 The innate immune system

The innate immune system is often referred to as the first line of defence against pathogens. This terminology is quite obvious because it starts with the physical barriers represented by skin and mucus and expands to defence mechanisms inside all nucleated cells. When pathogens infect a host, their presence is recognized by cellular receptors which trigger the cell to initiate countermeasures to limit their spread. These countermeasures includes synthesis of effector proteins that function inside the cell, and cytokines that are secreted as alarm signals to warn neighbouring cells of imminent danger. In addition, the innate immune system have specialised effector cells (e.g. dendritic cells (DCs), natural killer cells (NK) and macrophages) ready to combat pathogens as they arrive. These effector cells constitute a small fraction of the total cells in the blood. Although few in numbers, these cells probe peripheral tissues where they phagocytose foreign particles or infected cells in search of pathogens.

Cytokines are proteins that regulate important cellular functions such as growth, immune activation and defence against invading pathogens. Cytokines also regulate the adaptive immune system by promoting B and T cell differentiation, and thus serve to bridge innate and adaptive immunity [1,2]. Among the cytokines, the interferons (IFN) were discovered based on their capacity to induce cellular resistance to viral infections. Given their ability to interfere with influenza virus infection in chicken cells, these cytokines were named interferons by Isaacs and Lindenmann in 1957 [3].

# **1.2 Interferons**

Since their discovery in 1957, the numbers of IFNs has expanded and are now commonly grouped into type I, type II and type III IFNs. This classification is based on sequence homology and which receptor complex they use for signalling.

The mammalian type I IFNs constitute a multi-member cytokine family which include multiple subtypes of IFN- $\alpha$  and a single member of IFN- $\beta$ ,  $-\epsilon$ ,  $-\kappa$ ,  $-\omega$ ,  $-\delta$  and  $-\tau$  [4]. Human type I IFN genes are clustered on chromosome 9 and all lack intron structures. Of these, only IFN- $\beta$  and the multiple subtypes of IFN- $\alpha$  have immunological functions.

IFN- $\alpha/\beta$  are produced and secreted as a response to virus infection by all nucleated cells, and they induce an antivirale state by binding to the IFN- $\alpha/\beta$  receptor complex (IFNAR) that is ubiquitously expressed on the surface of cells [5,6]. In addition, a specific subset of immune cells known as plasmacytoid DCs (pDCs) are identified as the main producers of IFN- $\alpha/\beta$  upon stimulation [7].

The mammalian type II IFN consists of one member and is synonymous with IFN- $\gamma$ [8]. The human IFN- $\gamma$  gene is located to chromosome 12, and the gene contains three introns [9]. IFN- $\gamma$  is produced exclusively by T- and NK-cells and has important functions later in the immune response [10]. In the innate immune response, production of IFN- $\gamma$  is mediated by NK-cells stimulated by interleukin 12 (IL-12) and IL-18, and in the adaptive responses by CD4 T helper 1 (Th1) lymphocytes and CD8 cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTL) as a response to antigens presented on major histocompatibility complexes (MHC) [11,12]. IFN- $\gamma$  utilize a different receptor than the IFN- $\alpha/\beta$  receptor and induces a variety of genes including several with antiviral properties [6,13].

The latest IFNs to be discovered where the type III IFNs, termed IFN- $\lambda 1$ ,  $-\lambda 2$  and  $-\lambda 3$  (also known as IL-28A, IL-28B and IL-29) [14,15]. This family of IFN is also produced by virus infected cells and they stimulate cells to produce the same antiviral proteins as type I IFNs do. Even though type III IFNs share functional characteristics with the type I, they are different in many aspects. Above all the type III IFNs use a different receptor complex and the gene structure are different from the type I IFNs [16].

As the main focus of this work is antiviral activity exerted by type I IFNs, they will henceforth be referred to as IFN.

# **1.3 Receptors involved in pathogen recognition**

The vertebrate cell has numerous receptors involved in detection of pathogens. In contrast to the receptors involved in adaptive immunity, the innate receptors are germ line encoded and not generated by rearrangements and hyper mutations of the receptor genes. The innate receptors detect conserved structural features associated to pathogens such as DNA, RNA, lipids, polysaccharides and peptides.

There are several receptors that detect viral DNA and RNA. The most thoroughly studied are RIG-I/MDA5 and Toll-like receptors (TLR). RIG-I and MDA5 are located to the cytoplasm of most cells, and they recognize ssRNA and dsRNA respectively. These two receptors are now considered to be the main inducers of IFNs and ISGs in non-immune cells. The different TLRs are predominantly present in immune cells even though some are found in non-immune cells. These are either found in endosomal compartments or as extracellular receptors. The endosomal TLRs detect RNA or DNA of bacterial and viral origin, and the extracellular TLRs detect protein or lipid structures from pathogens.

The different receptors will be addressed in the following sections.

# 1.3.1 Cytoplasmic receptors

In the cytoplasm of most cells several receptors linked to the IFN system have been described. These receptors have a ubiquitous distribution and they detect DNA or RNA from a variety of pathogens.

Retinoic-acid-inducible gene I (RIG-I) and melanoma-differentiation-associated gene 5 (MDA5) are Dex (D/H) box RNA helicases located to the cytoplasm that applies synthetic and viral RNA as ligands [17,18]. RIG-I detects *in vitro* transcribed double stranded (ds) RNA and 5'-triphosphate single stranded (ss) RNA generated by viral polymerases during replication of viruses, and binding of the ligands to the receptor induces synthesis of IFNs in response to infections of paramyxoviruses, influenza viruses and Japanese encephalitis virus [19-21]. MDA5 is reported to detect the synthetic dsRNA polyinosinic-polycytidylic acid (poly I:C) and picornaviruses, and is able to activate the IFN system through similar mechanisms as RIG-I [21,22]. RIG-I and MDA5 are now considered to be the main inducers of IFN in non-immune cells upon virus infections, and signalling through these receptors is an essential feature of host immunity to infections by RNA viruses [23].

Located to the cytoplasm are several other receptors that detect different forms of RNA and DNA from pathogens. The protein kinase R (PKR) is an IFN induced dsRNAactivated kinase with antiviral and antiproliferative activity [24]. Recognition of dsRNA results in activation of PKR, and the main function of PKR is to inhibit protein synthesis in the cell through phosphorylation of a factor called eIF $\alpha$ 2 [25]. Upon stimulation of dsRNA, PKR is also able to activate NF- $\kappa$ B which participates in the transcription of IFN $\alpha/\beta$  [26,27]. In addition, fish possesses a PKR-like eIF $\alpha$ 2 kinase which is activated by dsDNA, the Z-DNA binding protein kinase (PKZ)[28-30]. PKZ have Z $\alpha$  binding motifs which specifically bind dsDNA with the left-handed Z-conformation, a high energy form of DNA that is formed by negative supercoiling generated by RNA polymerases [31-33].

Recently another cytosolic Z-DNA binding sensor termed DAI (DNA-dependent activator of IFN regulatory factors) was reported [34]. DAI detects cytosolic DNA and induces IFN transcription through the transcription factor IRF-3 [34-37].

## **1.3.2 Toll-like receptors**

The TLRs are a class of pattern recognition receptors that detect a broad range of pathogens, including bacteria, fungi, protozoa and viruses [38-41]. The TLRs 1, 2, 4, 5 and 6 seem specialised in detecting mainly bacterial products such as di- and tri-lipopeptides, lipoproteins, peptidoglycan, LPS and flagellin (reviewed in [40]). In contrast, the TLRs 3, 7, 8 and 9 specialize in viral detection and recognize single and double stranded nucleic acids [40]. Another unique feature of these receptors is that only TLR 3, 4, 7, 8 and 9 mediate expression of IFN  $\alpha/\beta$  genes [42]. The ability of the nucleic acid sensing TLRs to discriminate between self and non-self is not mediated by the nature of the receptors or the ligands, but is due to the cellular localization of the receptors in the cell. These TLRs are located to and detects nucleic acids in endosomal compartments where they normally have no accessibility to the cells own DNA or RNA [43-48].

# 1.3.2.1 TLR3

Many viruses possess a genome that consist of dsRNA, or dsRNA is produced as an intermediate by many viruses during their replication cycle [8]. TLR3 is localized to endosomes in the cell and is a receptor for synthetic dsRNA such as poly I:C and its mismatched analogue poly I:C<sub>12</sub>U [49,50]. TLR3 is expressed by DCs, NK, macrophages and epithelial cells [49,51-55]. NK cells possess the strongest expression of TLR3, and stimulation with poly I:C augments NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity and results in production of proinflammatory cytokines like IL-6 and IL-8 [55,56].

Binding of synthetic dsRNA to TLR3 results in expression of IFNs and subsequent resistance against various viral pathogens [6], but at the same time it seems that TLR3 is less important for the initial, cell-autonomous recognition of viral infection that results in the first wave of IFN  $\alpha/\beta$  production [57]. In accordance to these findings TLR3- deficient mice were

no more susceptible to infections of dsRNA, ssRNA and DNA virus infections than normal mice [58]. In the case of West Nile virus (WNV) it appears that this virus in fact benefits from the interactions with TLR3 [59]. The biological significance of TLR3 in fighting virus infection appears rather obscure and some authors have raised the question if it has a role at all [58]. Other studies have in addition reported that TLR3 preferentially recognizes synthetic dsRNA rather than virus-derived dsRNA [60] and that TLR3 trigger transcription of IFN after delivery of extracellularly dsRNA [61,62]. TLR3 is located to endosomal compartments in immune-cells, and this might explain the preference for extracellularly delivered ligands [48,63].

The function of TLR3 in immunity is now identified as a linkage between innate immunity and adaptive, cell-mediated immunity. Dendritic cells (DC) is a specialized type of antigen presenting cells (APC) that acquire novel antigens, presents these in MHC-II complexes and then direct the activation and proliferation of antigen-specific T-cells [64]. In addition, DCs are able to present peptides in MHC-I complexes derived from exogenous antigens in a process known as cross-presentation [65]. This ability resides almost exclusively with the CD8 $\alpha^+$  DCs [66], a specific subset of DCs in which TLR3 is predominantly expressed [67].

As CD8 $\alpha^+$  DCs phagocytose foreign antigen, the antigen is transferred to endosomes for processing. The presence of TLR3 in endosomes enables the receptor to recognize antigen derived dsRNA, which in turn activate maturation of the cell. The maturation process activates and enhances the CD8 $\alpha^+$  DCs ability to display antigen in MHC I, which in turn are recognized by specific CD8 T-cells. The onset of CD8 $\alpha^+$  DCs maturation and presentation of exogenous antigen on MHC I are shown to be dependent of TLR3 [68], and it has been shown that stimulation of CD8 $\alpha^+$  DCs by IFN is important to boost this process [69].

#### 1.3.2.2 TLR7, 8 and 9

The TLRs 7, 8 and 9 are receptors that detect viral and bacterial RNA and DNA, and similar to TLR3 they are localized to endosomes in the cells [63,70-72]. In both human and mice TLR7 is activated by viral ssRNA from influenza, vesicular stomatitis virus and Sendai virus [43,46,73-75]. In addition synthetic ssRNA nucleotides and several synthetic nucleotide analogues called imidazoquinolines represented by Imiquimod, S-27609 and R-848 are also reported to function as ligands [43,76,77]. Apparently TLR7 is not able to discriminate between foreign and self RNA, but studies have shown that this receptor has affinity for uracil repeats normally found in the 3'UTR of the genomes of RNA viruses [43,75,78]. TLR7 is found in many tissues, but expression is predominantly in B-cells, monocytes and pDCs [55,79].

TLR8 appears to recognize the same ligands as TLR7, but there are some peculiarities regarding the affinity for synthetic agonists and the natural ligand ssRNA between TLR7 and TLR8 in human and mice. Human TLR7 and TLR8 and murine TLR7 all detect viral and synthetic ssRNA, in contrast to murine TLR8 that need additional stimulation by CpG rich DNA [75,80,81]. TLR8 appear to have a broader cellular and tissue expression than TLR7 and TLR9. In humans, the strongest TLR8 mRNA expression was observed in monocytes and it was also readily detected in myeloid DCs (mDC), macrophages and Langerhans cells [55,82,83].

TLR9 detects unmethylated CpG-rich DNA from bacteria and viruses [84,85]. Unmethylated CpG-rich DNA is mainly present in genomes of prokaryotes and viruses. Generally, vertebrate DNA is methylated wherever a cytosine is followed by a guanosine thus providing the DNA with a unique signature compared to prokaryote organisms. The ability to distinguish between pro- and eukaryote DNA renders TLR9 the only TLR with the ability to

recognize specific nucleotide motifs. The distribution of TLR9 is limited to pDC and B-cells and is therefore localized to the same cells as TLR7 [54,55,86].

# **1.4 Signalling pathways**

# 1.4.1 The RIG-I/MDA5 signalling pathway

Upon recognition of viral RNA by RIG-I and MDA5, both receptors initiate signalling pathways that regulate the transcription of IFN genes [17] (Fig. 1). Both receptors have two tandem N-terminal caspase activation and recruitment domains (CARD) which is important for the transduction of signals through the signalling pathways resulting in activation of specific transcription factors [87]. After ligand recognition, the CARD-domains are ubiquitinated by the tripartite motif protein  $25\alpha$  (TRIM25 $\alpha$ ) [88]. This modification is critical for the ability of RIG-I to induce signal transduction and for recruitment of the downstream adaptor protein MAVS [87,89-91]. MAVS (mitochondrial antiviral signalling adaptor, also called IPS-1, VISA or CARDIF) is associated to the mitochondrial outer membrane, and possess a CARD-domain important for its recruitment by RIG-I and MDA5. The interactions between RIG-I and MAVS triggers recruitment of a regulatory component known as NF- $\kappa$ B essential modifier (NEMO, also known as IKK $\gamma$ ), an adaptor that bridges the activation of IRF-3/IRF-7 and NF- $\kappa$ B [92]. Another important factor recruited by MAVS is tumor necrosis factor receptor-associated factor 3 (TRAF3) which activates the two kinases IKK $\epsilon$  and TBK1 [93].



**Figure 1. The RIG-I/MDA5 signalling pathway.** RIG-I and MDA5 recognize viral RNA and interact through their CARD-domains with the mitochondrial-associated adaptor MAVS. MAVS activates several signalling pathways leading to phosphorylation of the transcription factors IRF-3, IRF-7, NF- $\kappa$ B and AP-1 via IKK $\epsilon$ /TBK1, IKK $\alpha$ /IKK $\beta$  and MAP kinases. Modified from [92,94].

# 1.4.2 TLR3 signalling pathway

TLR3 is sole member of the TLR receptors that utilize the TIR domain containing adapter inducing IFN- $\beta$  (Trif, also known as TICAM1) as an adaptor to activate transcription [95,96] (Fig. 2). While all the other TLRs can utilize MyD88 as adaptor for downstream signalling, the latter is not involved in TLR3 activation, and this pathway is thus referred to as the MyD88-independent pathway. Trif relay signals from TLR3 to Rip1 and TRAF6 for the activation of NF- $\kappa$ B and AP-1 [97,98] and Trif is also able to interact with TBK1 and IKK $\epsilon$  in order to phosphorylate IRF-3 and IRF-7 [96]. Critical in the activation IRF-3 and IRF-7 through Trif is the recruitment of TRAF3 as a regulator of TBK1 [93]. Trif is also utilized by TLR4, but TLR4 apply an additional adapter called Trif-related adapter molecule (TRAM) that connects TLR4 to Trif. [95,99].



**Figure 2.** The TLR3 signalling pathway. TLR3 is located to endosomal vesicles and recruits the adapter Trif upon detection of dsRNA. Trif recruits the adaptor TRAF3 which interact with IKK $\epsilon$ /TBK1, which activate IRF-3 and IRF-7 through phosphorylation. Trif also relay signals to Rip1 and TRAF6. This results in phosphorylation of NF- $\kappa$ B via IKK $\alpha$ /IKK $\beta$  and AP-1 via the MAP kinase pathway. Modified from [94].

# 1.4.3 TLR7, 8 and 9 signalling pathway

The signalling pathway activated by ligand binding to TLR7, 8 and 9 is specific for immune cells and is part of what is referred to as the MyD88-dependent pathway. As the name implies MyD88 is the central adaptor that is associated to the TLRs, and it is used to a

different extent by all TLRs except TLR3 [94]. Whereas TLR5, 7, 8, 9 and 11 is associated directly to MyD88, TLR1, 2, 4, and 6 use additional adaptors as a linker to MyD88 [94].

In pDCs, MyD88 is associated directly to the TLRs, and upon ligand binding MyD88 recruits members of the IL-1 receptor-associated kinase (IRAK) family and TRAF6 [100-103]. MyD88, IRAK1, IRAK4 and TRAF6 form a signalling complex that activates IRF-7 by phosphorylation and ubiquitination (Fig.3).



**Figure 3.** The TLR7, 8 and 9 signalling pathway. TLR7, 8 and 9 reside in endosomal vesicles in pDCs. Upon detection of ssRNA (TLR7 and 8) or CpG-rich DNA (TLR9) the respective TLRs form a complex with Myd88, IRAK1, IRAK4 and TRAF6. This complex phosphorylates IRF-7, which dimerize and translocates to the nucleus. In addition, the MyD88 complex activates the pathways leading to activation of AP-1 and NF-κB. Modified from [94].

## **1.5 Induction of IFN transcription**

Expression of IFN is induced rapidly in cells as a response to invading pathogens through the signalling pathways described above. Transcription of IFN- $\beta$  is regulated by three different transcription factors known as IFN regulatory factors (IRFs), nuclear factor- $\kappa$ B (NF- $\kappa$ B) and c-Jun/ activated transcription factor-2 (ATF-2) [8]. C-Jun/ATF2 is generally referred to as AP-1. These transcription factors interact and form a multiprotein transcriptionpromoting complex called the enhanceosome that bind to regulatory domains of the IFN promoter [104]. The promoter of IFN- $\beta$  contains specific sites recognized by the different transcription factors. Two IFN-stimulated response elements (ISRE) are recognized by IRF-3 and IRF-7, one site by AP-1 and a  $\kappa$ B site is recognized by NF- $\kappa$ B [104,105].

Activation of AP-1 is activated by multi-kinase complexes through the Jun kinase pathway and will not be addressed further [106].

# **1.5.1 Interferon regulatory factors**

The IRFs constitute a family of transcription factors in which nine members are found in mammals. Similar for all these proteins is the N-terminal DNA binding domain that contains five tryptophan residues. Through this domain they are able to recognize ISRE sites found in the promoters of IFN- $\beta$  and the IFN stimulated genes (ISG) [107-109]. In general, all IRFs are constitutively expressed in most cells, but some of these are inducible by IFN, IFN- $\gamma$ and TLR ligation. Gene disruption studies on most of the IRFs have been performed, and these studies show that they have distinct roles in modulating immune responses and in the development and function of immune cells [108,110,111]. Of the IRFs that participate in transcription regulation of IFN genes, IRF-3 and IRF-7 are the most important.

#### 1.5.1.2 IRF-3 and IRF-7

IRF-3 and IRF-7 are highly homologous genes and they are considered to be the key regulators of IFN gene expression in response to virus infection [112]. In non-immune cells IRF-3 is constitutively expressed and is localized to the cytosol of unstimulated cells. IRF-7 has a weak constitutive expression sufficient to participate in activation of the IFN- $\alpha/\beta$  promoter, but can also be induced by IFN [113-115]. Activation of the IRF-3 and IRF-7 in non-immune cells are initiated by ligand binding to cytosolic receptors (RIG-I and MDA5), TLR3 or TLR4. This results in the activation of TBK1 and IKK $\epsilon$  which phosphorylate specific serine residues in the C-terminal region of IRF-3 and IRF-7 [116,117]. This phosphorylation elicits a conformational change that allows the formation of IRF dimers and translocation to the nucleus where they interact with other transcription factors to initiate the transcription of IFNs. The heterodimer of IRF-3 and IRF-7 appears to be important for the initial transcription of the IFN genes upon virus infection of the cell.

In mammals, IRF-3 is a potent activator of the IFN- $\beta$  and the IFN- $\alpha$ 4 gene, but not on the remaining IFN- $\alpha$  genes [112,115,118]. In contrast, IRF-7 regulates transcription of both IFN- $\beta$  and IFN- $\alpha$  genes, and is required for both the initial IFN- $\beta$  induction and the late induction of IFN- $\alpha$  subtypes after virus infection [118,119]. These properties have resulted in a model where IRF-7 is the key regulator of the IFN transcription in non-immune cells [120,121].

IRF-7 also has an important function in pDCs, known for their ability to produce high amounts of IFN in response to ligand binding of TLR7 and TLR9 [7,43,100]. In the pDC, IRF-7 is constitutively expressed and is activated through the MyD88-dependent pathway. The ability of pDCs to rapidly produce IFN is not only due to the ready state of IRF-7, but also to their possession of TLR7 and TLR9 [122]. In pDCs it is observed that RNA and DNA localizes to endosomes for longer time than what is observed for other DCs. The retention of

ligands thus enables the TLRs to detect them more efficiently than in the other DCs and macrophages, in which RNA and DNA are translocated to lysosomes and degraded [122].

# 1.5.1.3 Other IRFs

IRF-1 was the first IRF to be discovered and was characterised as regulator of IFN responses. IRF-1 has several important functions including regulation expression of important ISGs such as 2', 5' oligoadenylate synthetase (OAS) and PKR [123-125]. In addition it is involved in development of NK-cells [126], in promotion of  $T_1$ H-cell responses[127,128] and apoptosis induced by DNA damage [129]. IRF-2 is a negative regulator of the transcription of ISGs. It binds the same promoter regions as IRF-1, and these two transcription factors compete for the same DNA-binding sites [130,131]. The most important role for IRF-2 may thus be to attenuate the IFN response in most cells.

IRF-4 is involved in the development of DCs, B- and T-cells, and it controls the transcription of IL4 [132-134]. Many of its function is in cooperation with IRF-8 [135-137]

IRF-5 is inducible by IFN and TLR ligation, and it was suggested that it was involved in regulation of IFN expression. However, a recent study has shown that IRF-5 is required for the induction of proinflammatory cytokines [138].

IRF-6 is the only gene where function is not determined, but recent studies suggest that it is involved in proliferation and differentiation of keratinocytes [139].

IRF-8/IFN consensus sequence-binding protein (ICSBP) is an immune system-specific member of IRF-family [113,137,140] and the protein is expressed at high amounts in the different subtypes of DCs in response to TLR ligation and virus infection [136]. Recent studies have also shown that IRF-8 is implicated in the direct regulation of IFN expression in DCs, but does this in a post-induction phase and as a response to the initial synthesis of IFNs

[141]. In addition, IRF-8 is essential for the development of the pDCs and the  $CD8\alpha^+$  DCs [136,142-145] and it is involved in the development of T<sub>H</sub>1-cell responses [146-148].

IRF-9 is part of the transcription complex ISGF-3, which is responsible for the induction of the majority of ISGs [149].

# 1.5.2 NF-кВ

NF-κB consists of a family of proteins that comprises several dimeric transcription factors that bind to discrete DNA sequences known as κB sites in promoter and enhancer regions of various genes [150]. In mammalian cells the NF-κB family is composed of five members, but the most frequently activated form of NF-κB involved in transcription of IFN is a heterodimer composed of RelA and p50 [151]. The RelA-p50 hetero-dimer is kept in an inactive state in the cytoplasm of unstimulated cells by the inhibitory actions of a family of proteins known as IκB-proteins (reviewed in [152]). Upon virus infection, the IκB proteins are phosphorylated by a protein complex composed of IκB kinase  $\alpha$  (IKK  $\alpha$ ), IKK $\beta$  and NEMO. The phosphorylation of IκB-proteins by the IKK complex results in degradation by the 26S proteasome, releasing the RelA-p50 from the inhibition and thus allowing it to move to the nucleus.

# 1.6 IFN signalling through the Jak/STAT pathway

Binding of the secreted IFN to the IFN- $\alpha/\beta$  receptor (IFNAR) activates a signalling pathway that results in the expression of a specific set of genes called IFN stimulated genes (ISGs) [6] (Fig. 4). The IFNAR is composed of the two subunits IFNAR1 and IFGNAR2 and they are associated to two kinases, Jak1 and Tyk2, of the Janus tyrosine kinase (JAK) family [5]. IFN binds to IFNAR2 and this leads to recruitment of IFNAR1. The activation of the receptor facilitate a cross-reaction between Jak1 and Tyk2, and these factors will phosphorylate the signal transducer and activator of transcription 1 (STAT1) and STAT2 at specific tyrosine residues. Upon phosphorylation STAT1 and STAT2 form a heterodimer that dissociates from the receptor and is translocated to the nucleus where they bind to IRF-9 to form a heterotrimeric transcription factor known as IFN-stimulated gene factor 3 (ISGF3) (reviewed in [153]). In the nucleus ISGF3 will bind to ISRE sites found in the promoters of ISGs. Among the ISGs are many proteins with antiviral properties such as Mx, ISG15 and 2'-5' oligoadenylate synthetase (2'-5' OAS) [6]. In addition transcription of other factors that enhance the IFN transcription are induced, the most important being IRF-7. In non immune cells IRF-7 will participate and enhance the late transcription of the IFN- $\alpha$  genes [118].

The importance of IFN signalling in the innate antiviral immune response is emphasized by studies in mice with deficient IFNAR genes [154]. This study showed that the IFNAR-deficient mice were extremely sensitive to viral infections and unable to control virus infections.

The pathways described above involve pathogen recognition by several receptors that result in the subsequent induction of an antiviral state in the cells by IFN signalling. However, synthesis of ISGs can be induced independent of IFN signalling and the key regulator of this alternative pathway is IRF-3 [155]. The first reported mediator of IFN-independent activation of ISGs was dsRNA, which activates IRF-3 and other factors to form a transcription complex called dsRNA activated factor 1 (DRAF1) that induces transcription of ISGs [156-158].

More recent studies have identified a novel pathway that is independent of IFN and induces an antiviral response upon entry of enveloped viral particles from both RNA and DNA viruses [159,160]. The receptor(s) that initiates this signalling pathway remains unknown, but the outcome is the activation of TBK1 which participates in hyperphosphorylation of IRF-3 [160,161] (Fig. 4). Importantly, the TLR and RIG-I pathways are

apparently not involved because Trif, MyD88 and NF- $\kappa$ B are dispensable for the induction of ISGs in response to virus particles in the cell [161]. The ability to directly induce an antiviral state in the cell may serve as the actual first line of defence against invading pathogens, thus providing the infected cell with enough time to implement an effective immune response.



**Figure 4.** The Jak/STAT signalling pathway. The binding of IFN to the IFN- $\alpha/\beta$  receptor (IFNAR) results in cross-reaction between the two receptor-associated kinases Tyk1 and Jak2, which in turn phosphorylate STAT1 and STAT2. STAT1 and STAT2 form a hetero-dimer which in the nucleus binds IRF-9 to form the transcription factor complex ISGF3. ISGF3 binds to promoters with ISRE elements and induce transcription of ISGs such as Mx, ISG15 and OAS. Viral entry also induce expression of ISGs independent of IFN stimulation through novel receptors and/or pathways that results in hyper-phosphorylation of IRF-3. Modified from [6,161].

# 1.7 Antiviral proteins induced by the IFN system

The human genome has been estimated to contain somewhere between 600 and 2000 ISGs, but only a fraction of them encodes proteins with antiviral properties [162]. Of the known antiviral ISGs, some of the best characterized are Mx, ISG15, PKR and OAS.

# 1.7.1 Mx

Mx proteins belong to the dynamin superfamily of high molecular weight GTPases, and the name was given because of their ability to provide resistance against myxo- and orthomyxoviruses such as influenza A [163-167]. The human genome contains two related Mx genes (MxA and MxB), the protein size range from 70 to 80 kDa and both are induced by IFN [164,168,169]. MxA accumulates in the cytoplasm upon IFN stimulation or virus infection, and the antiviral activity has been extensively studied [164,168-170]. On the other hand, MxB appears to have important functions in transport between the nucleus and the cytoplasm, which is not involved in defence against virus infections [169,171-173]. Mouse also have two Mx genes encoding the Mx1 and Mx2 proteins, but different from humans both proteins have antiviral activity [169,174]. Mouse Mx1 is located to the nucleus and selectively inhibits the replication of orthomyxoviruses, while Mx2 accumulates in the cytoplasm and confer resistance against rhabdoviruses (vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV)) and bunyaviruses (LaCrosse virus (LACV)) [169,174-176]. While mouse Mx1 and Mx2 inhibit viral replication in the respective cellular compartments they accumulate, human MxA have a broad antiviral spectrum and inhibits viruses irrespective of where they replicate in the cell. So far human MxA is reported to confer resistance against members of the bunyaviruses, orthomyxoviruses, paramyxoviruses, rhabdoviruses, togaviruses, picornaviruses and reoviruses [177].

The antiviral function of Mx proteins depends on several factors. Mx proteins are known to aggregate and form homo-oligomers, and they are also known to make complexes with viral proteins [164,169,174]. The ability to make aggregates and to recognize viral components are dependent of the intrinsic GTPase activity of the Mx proteins [178]. Studies on mutant MxA lacking the GTPase domain failed to form oligomers, and although the antiviral activity was retained the overall stability of the protein was severely diminished [179].

The interaction between human MxA and viruses has been thoroughly studied, and in the case of thogoto virus (THOV) the mechanism has been described. MxA interacts directly with THOV nucleocapsids and retain them in the cytoplasm, preventing viral transport and replication in the nucleus [177,180,181]. Similar mechanisms have been reported for other viruses as well, such as LaCrosse virus [182].

# 1.7.2 ISG15

ISG15 was one of the first ISGs to be characterised based upon the inducibility by IFN stimulation and virus infection [183-186]. It was also identified as the first member of the family of protein-modifiers today known as the ubiquitin-like proteins [187].

Human ISG15 is expressed as an inactive precursor (17 kDa) that is cleaved by specific proteases in order to expose a C-terminal motif that is central for the active protein (15 kDa) [188,189]. Through the active C-terminal domain ISG15 is able to bind covalently to proteins in a process called conjugation or ISGylation. Over 200 ISGylated proteins of different functions have been identified, but how this conjugation of ISG15 to its target proteins affect their function is not yet understood [190-192].

ISG15 is one of the earliest and strongest induced ISGs, and is expressed in most cells by dsRNA and upon infection of virus and bacteria [185,193-195]. Several observations have

led to the notion that ISG15 has a function in the cell upon IFN stimulation and infections by pathogens. Many important factors involved in the IFN signalling pathway are targets for ISG15, and one of these studies concluded that ISGylation extended the lifespan of IRF-3 during virus infections [191,196]. The ISGylation of IRF-3 appears to have an indirect effect on its function, and this might be similar for the other cellular proteins that are targeted by ISG15. Among the proteins involved in the innate antiviral response includes PKR, MxA, STAT1, Jak1 and RIG-I, but there is no evidence of a defect in the IFN signalling in ISG15 deficient mouse when it comes to the Jak/STAT pathway [191,192,197].

Several *in vitro* studies have shown that the IFN system and ISG15 is involved in inhibition of retrovirus replication by targeting of virus assembly [198-200]. The studies showed that human immunodeficiency virus -1 (HIV-1) release from the cell was impaired upon IFN stimulation, and that this effect was mimicked by transient expression of ISG15 [199,201]. Similar to the cellular targets for ISGylation, the mechanism utilized by ISG15 to inhibit HIV-1 remains elusive.

ISG15 also appear to play a role in influenza virus infections. All influenza viruses produce a protein that interferes with the IFN system. This protein is known as the non-structural protein 1 (NS1), and the NS1 of influenza B virus specifically inhibits ISG15 conjugation during infection [202]. Even though no direct effect of this interference by NS1 has been observed, it is a strong indication that ISG15 has a possible antiviral role during infection of influenza B.

# 1.7.3 PKR

PKR is a serine/threonine protein kinase that is activated by dsRNA, IFN stimulation and viral infections (reviewed in [124]). Binding of dsRNA results in auto-phosphorylation of PKR, and this enable the protein to phosphorylate other proteins where the most prominent is the protein synthesis initiation factor eIF2 $\alpha$  [203-205]. eIF2 $\alpha$  is protein essential for

translation of mRNA, and PKR-dependent phosphorylation prevents recycling of this protein and thus results in translational inhibition of cellular and viral mRNA.

PKR appears to have important antiviral effects because several viruses have evolved mechanisms to block activation of the protein during infection (extensively reviewed in [8,206]). For instance, influenza viruses are shown to activate a cellular inhibitor of PKR, poliovirus induce degradation of PKR and HIV-1 inhibits the catalytic activity of PKR [207-210]

# 1.7.4 2'-5' Oligoadenylate synthetase (OAS)

2'-5'- Oligoadenylate synthetase (OAS) is a dsRNA dependent enzyme that uses ATP as a substrate to synthesize 2'-5'-oligoadenylates. Three different forms of OAS are found in humans that are inducible by IFN and these oligoadenylates activate a latent endoribonuclease known as RNase L (reviewed in [211]). The primary function of RNase L is to cleave ssRNA and the enzyme has specific affinity for ssRNA with regions of secondary structures [212]. However, the precise mechanism behind the antiviral activity of RNase L still remains elusive, but several studies shown that RNase L deficient mouse display enhanced susceptibility against infection of picornaviruses, Herpes Simplex 1 and WNV [213-216].

# 1.8 Viral antagonism of the IFN system

Most viruses have adopted mechanisms that interfere with the hosts IFN system response. Generally viruses use non-structural (NS) proteins for this purpose, and these are referred to as IFN-antagonists. The NS-proteins are often multifunctional proteins, and they interact with both cellular and viral proteins. As the functions of these viral proteins are important for the virus to successfully replicate in the host, an increasing number of studies

have concluded that viral IFN antagonists target virtually all components of the IFN- system [217].

One of the best described IFN antagonistic mechanisms in viruses is exerted by the influenza A NS1 (NS1A) protein, which is a multifunctional protein capable of inhibiting the host IFN response at many levels. The influenza virus has an obvious requirement for proteins with these qualities, because the virus is highly sensitive to IFN stimulation and particularly the actions of MxA [218-220].

One property of NS1A is the ability to bind and sequester dsRNA and thus avoid detection by the many intracellular receptors that induce IFN upon virus infection of the cell [221]. Masking of dsRNA has been linked to inhibition of several factors important for induction of IFN including NF-κB, IRF-3 and PKR [222-226]. More recently it has been suggested that the primary function of dsRNA binding by NS1A was to inhibit the 2`-5' OAS pathway and thus avoid degradation of the viral genome by RNaseL [227]. Masking of the viral genome is an indirect method to avoid detection by the host, and several studies have shown that influenza A through NS1A in addition apply more direct strategies to inhibit the IFN system. One of these strategies is to inhibit the machinery that perform 3` end processing of cellular pre-mRNA [228,229]. NS1A targets the cleavage and polyadenylation specificity factor (CPSF) and thus efficiently block transport of cellular mRNA from the nucleus. As a consequence the host cell synthesis of IFN and antiviral proteins is severely impaired during the initial stages of the infection [230].

Direct interaction between NS1A and RIG-I leading to disruption of RIG-I mediated induction of IFN has recently been reported [231,232]. RIG-I is the major receptor detecting influenza virus infection in non-immune cells, and inhibition of this pathway results in equivalent inhibition of IRF-3 activation [232]. NS1A appears to bind both RIG-I and MAVS because all three proteins are found in the same complexes after virus induced cell lysis [231].

The ability to at least reduce the initial IFN response is a great advantage for all replicating viruses. First of all the virus may avoid the direct actions by antiviral proteins such as Mx, which could inhibit viral replication at an early stage. Secondly it may delay the effects exerted by cytokines such as IFN which not only activates neighbouring cells but also act in an autocrine fashion to induce an antiviral state in the cell.

# 2.1 The IFN system of fish

# 2.1.1 IFN genes in fish

IFN genes have been cloned from several fish species such as Atlantic salmon, rainbow trout, pufferfish and zebrafish [233-236]. So far two IFN genes known as IFN- $\alpha$ 1 and IFN- $\alpha$ 2 have been found in Atlantic salmon. In addition three IFN genes have been found in rainbow trout and channel catfish, but the presence of more genes has been suggested by genetic studies in channel catfish and pufferfish [235-238]. Interestingly, fish IFN genes possess a similar five exon/four intron structure as the mammalian IFN- $\lambda$  genes, in contrast to the mammalian IFN- $\alpha/\beta$  genes that lacks introns [239]. The inducible nature of fish IFNs is also well established. Several fish viruses have been shown to induce IFN and IFN like activity [236,240-242] and poly I:C is widely used to induce an antiviral state in fish [233,235,237,243-246]. Furthermore, CpG-rich oligonucleotides is established as an inducer of IFN and antiviral activity in salmonids [247-250].

Cloning of fish IFN genes have made it possible to produce recombinant IFN from Atlantic salmon, spotted green pufferfish and channel catfish by transfection of eukaryotic cell lines, and recently salmon and rainbow trout IFN was produced in E. coli [234-237,251]. Recombinant IFN has proved to be a valuable tool to investigate antiviral activity in fish,

which has been demonstrated in Atlantic salmon, catfish and rainbow trout against IPNV, channel catfish herpesvirus (CCV) and viral hemorrhagic septicemia virus (VHSV) respectively [235-237]. In addition, recombinant IFN has been shown to induce expression of ISGs such as Mx and ISG15 in Atlantic salmon, rainbow trout and pufferfish [234-236,251,252].

## 2.1.2 The salmon IFN promoter

The promoter sequences of salmon and zebrafish IFN genes have previously been reported, and they share some features with the mammalian IFN promoters [253,254]. The salmon IFN promoter has a rather unique organization and appears to have two major regulatory regions called promoter region (PR) - I and PR-II [253]. PR-I possesses two IRFbinding motifs (marked as IRF-E in fig. 4) and a putative NF- $\kappa$ B – binding motif (Fig. 5). PR-II contains three to four IRF-binding motifs and an AP-1 element. This promoter sequence is present in both of the two salmon IFN- $\alpha$ 1 and IFN- $\alpha$ 2 genes, and the different promoter motifs suggest that salmon IFNs are regulated by the same transcription factors as mammalian IFNs. What is unique about the organization and regulation of the salmon IFN genes is that both encode two transcripts of different length. The short transcript is controlled by PR-I, while the long transcript is controlled by PR-II and in fact also contains PR-I.

To validate the potential to induce transcription of the IFN genes, the different promoter regions were fused in front of a promoterless luciferase reporter gene in order to make an IFN-promoter luciferase construct. The constructs were transfected into two different salmonid cell-lines, and their ability to transcribe the luciferase gene upon poly I:C stimulation was measured. These studies showed that the PR-I promoter gave high luciferase activity upon poly I:C stimulation whereas the PR-II promoter gave a weak induction. Transcript analysis also showed that the short transcripts by far was strongest induced by poly

I:C. These results indicate that the short promoter is the main control region of IFN transcription and also that cells produce the short IFN-transcripts upon poly I:C stimulation and virus infection. The exact function of the long IFN transcripts remain elusive, whereas the proteins encoded by the short transcripts of IFN- $\alpha$ 1 and IFN- $\alpha$ 2 were shown to have antiviral activity [235,251]. The short IFN promoter is most similar to promoter regions of mammalian IFN- $\beta$ , because it contains binding motifs for NF- $\kappa$ B and different IRFs.

The IFN-promoter luciferase construct containing the PR-I region has proved to be a valuable tool to investigate how cellular and viral proteins activate the IFN promoter *in vitro*, and we have applied this methodology in paper III and IV.



Figure 5. The promoter region (PR)-1 of the SasaIFN- $\alpha$ 1 gene. The potential binding sites for transcription factors are boxed and the transcription start site is marked with a bent arrow. The PR-I was fused to a promoterless luciferase gene in the IFN-promoter luciferase construct. Modified from [253].

## 2.1.3 IFN signalling pathways in fish

Many of the kinases, adaptors and transcription factors that are involved in regulation of IFN transcription has been found in fish. A recent genomic survey identified most of the important kinases (e.g; TBK1, IKKs and IRAKs), adaptors (MyD88, NEMO, Trif) and IRFs in zebrafish, fugu and pufferfish [255]. Similar surveys have discovered TLR9 from several fish species, and TLR8, TLR9 and MyD88 have been studied in Atlantic salmon ([256-258] and personal communication with Skjæveland, I). The IRFs have received special attention and several members of this family have been studied in fish. IRF-1 has been cloned from several species [259-263], IRF-2 from rainbow trout and mandarin fish [259,264] and IRF-7 like genes from mandarin fish and crucian carp [262,265]. The latter studies revealed that transcription of fish IRF-7 was inducible by poly I:C, virus infection and stimulation by supernatants with IFN-like activity.

There are limited data on the presence of IFN receptor genes from fish, but two separate surveys have demonstrated several possible receptor genes in the genomes of pufferfish and zebrafish [234,255]. One knock-down study using zebrafish identified an IFN- $\lambda$  like receptor as a possible candidate [266]. However, this study failed to use IFN to confirm these observations and it is possible that the different IFNs may use additional receptors as well.

Most of the members in the Jak-STAT pathway have been identified in fish, including Tyk2, Jak1, STAT1, STAT2 and IRF-9 [255,267-270]. Functional studies have only been performed with crucian carp and zebrafish STAT1, and the latter was shown to rescue IFN signalling in a STAT1-deficient human cell line [270]. Similar as observed with fish IRF-7, goldfish STAT1 was inducible by poly I:C, virus infection and stimulation by supernatants with IFN-like activity [269].

# 2.1.4 ISGs in fish

Several fish ISGs have been identified and Mx and ISG15 are the most thoroughly studied. Mx genes have been cloned from numbers of different species, and these studies have shown that both Mx transcription and protein synthesis is inducible by poly I:C, IFN and virus infection [271-278]. As previously described, mammalian Mx proteins display potent antiviral activity against many different viruses, and this seems also to be the case with fish Mx proteins. Antiviral activity of Mx against IPNV is reported in Atlantic salmon, against

rhabdoviruses in Japanese flounder, against IPNV and infectious haematopoietic necrosis virus (IHNV) in brown trout and against nodaviruses in grouper [279-282].

The first ISG15 gene in fish was identified as a response to cell injury induced by nephrotoxin in gold fish, and similar to the mammalian homologue this protein had the ability to conjugate to cellular proteins [283]. ISG15 was also found in fugu, zebrafish and catfish, and the presence of conserved ISRE elements and NF-κB responsive sites in the promoter of pufferfish suggest that it is an ISG [283]. The same study also showed that goldfish ISG15 was induced by infection with mycobacteria. Recently ISG15 genes have been found in Atlantic salmon, Atlantic cod and crucian carp, and the expression of these genes are strongly induced by virus infection [252,284,285]. In Atlantic salmon ISG15 was induced by both IPNV and ISAV, poly I:C and recombinant IFN, and it was also able to make conjugates with an unidentified protein from ISAV [252].

# 2.2 Infectious salmon anemia virus (ISAV)

Orthomyxoviruses are enveloped RNA viruses with a genome consisting of six to eight single stranded segments of negative polarity. Among the viruses that belong to this family of viruses are influenza viruses and THOV. THOV viruses are arboviruses that infect both mammals and ticks, the Influenza B and C infect primarily humans, while influenza A can infect humans, birds and several other species.

Infectious salmon anemia virus (ISAV) is the first aquatic virus designated to the *orthomyxoviridae* and is so far the only member of the new virus genus *Isavirus* [286-288]. The virus is a major causative agent of mortal disease in farmed Atlantic salmon globally. Outbreak of ISAV infection is reported in other salmonids, but the disease generally causes lower mortalities compared to Atlantic salmon [289-292].
The number of fish farms with outbreaks in Norway is relative low, but a recent study found avirulent strains of the virus in smolts from 22 of 24 investigated production sites throughout the country [293]. This implies that most Norwegian salmon farms could be ISAV positive and that a change from avirulent to virulent ISAV strains is the mechanism behind the sporadic outbreaks. Recent publications have identified several factors that may have influence on the virulence of the different strains of the virus, some of them similar to that described for the highly pathogenic Influenza A H5 strains [294,295].

Similar to the other influenza viruses, ISAV has a genome consisting of eight segments encoding at least ten proteins [288,296,297]. Two of these proteins may be involved in interference of the innate immune response in Atlantic salmon. The first proteins (s7ORF1) is encoded from a reading frame on segment 7, which is shown to produce one collinear and one spliced transcript [288,298-300]. The collinear transcript appears to encode either a non-structural minor structural or a structural protein involved in antagonism of the IFN system [298,299,301]. One study has suggested that the s7ORF1 protein interferes with the Jak/STAT pathway because of its inhibitory activity of the Mx promoter [301].

The gene encoding the second IFN antagonist candidate is located to segment 8 of the ISAV genome. Different from segment 7, segment 8 contains two overlapping reading frames in which the smaller ORF1 encodes the matrix protein of the virus capsid [297,298]. The structure and function of the larger ORF2 protein (s8ORF2) has not been characterized yet.

Previous studies have shown that ISAV induces expression of Mx and ISG15 proteins in cultivated salmon cells [245,252]. These studies concluded that Mx and ISG15 displayed no ability to protect cells from ISAV infection, in contrast to IPNV which is severely inhibited by Mx [280]. In addition, stimulation with poly I:C and recombinant salmon IFN- $\alpha$ 1 failed to block ISAV replication and this suggest that ISAV have evolved strategies to avoid interference by the IFN system during replication. However, poly I:C stimulation of salmon

prior to ISAV infection resulted in reduced cumulative mortality compared to mock-treated salmon, and this suggests that poly I:C can induce some protection *in vivo* against ISAV infection [243].

The present status on the interactions between salmon and ISAV is that salmon is able to mount an IFN system response against ISAV, but at the same time ISAV has evolved strategies to avoid interference by the immune system. However, what mechanisms salmon use to suppress ISAV replication and how ISAV antagonize this immune response still remains elusive.

### Aims of study

The general purpose of this project was to study the regulation of the Atlantic salmon IFN system in response to recombinant salmon IFN- $\alpha$ 1, poly I:C, the imidazoquinoline S-27609 and ISAV infection. In addition we have studied functions of two candidate IFN antagonist proteins from ISAV, and we have performed structural and functional studies of a salmon IRF-7 like protein.

The major aims were:

- Study transcription of IFN, Mx and ISG15 genes in response to ISAV infection both *in vivo* and *in vitro*, and to elucidate the protective potential of recombinant IFN- $\alpha$ 1 against ISAV infection.

- Study the induction of IFN, Mx and ISG15 genes in response to the imidazoquinoline S-27609, a specific ligand for the mammalian Toll-like receptor 7.

- Functional study of candidate IFN-antagonist proteins of ISAV, and how transient expression of these genes inhibits activation of IFN- $\alpha$ 1/ $\alpha$ 2 promoter.

- Cloning, sequencing and functional studies of an Atlantic salmon IRF-7 like gene.

#### Summary of papers

## I. Infectious salmon anemia virus is a powerful inducer of key genes of the type I interferon system of Atlantic salmon, but is not inhibited by interferon

In paper I we have investigated the role of the IFN system of Atlantic salmon in response to ISAV infection. Generally ISAV was shown to be a strong inducer of IFN, Mx and ISG15 transcripts both in vivo and in vitro. The in vitro studies was performed in salmon TO cells, and the induction patterns of the selected IFN system genes in ISAV infected cells was compared to that of poly I:C stimulated cells. Poly I:C stimulation resulted in a early peak of IFN transcription followed by a later peak of Mx transcription. In contrast, ISAV infection resulted in early expression of Mx and ISG15 while IFN transcription was considerably delayed and did not increase until late in the infection. A cohabitant infection trial with ISAV in Atlantic salmon resulted in 100% mortality, and transcript levels and protein expression where monitored in the organs. ISAV induced transcription of IFN, Mx and ISG15 genes in liver and head kidney, and immunoblotting confirmed the presence of Mx and ISG15 proteins in liver. In order to elucidate the protective potential of the IFN system against virus infections, TO cells were stimulated with recombinant salmon IFN- $\alpha 1$  (rSasa IFN- $\alpha 1$ ) and subsequently infected with either ISAV or IPNV. Whereas rSasa IFN- $\alpha$ 1 provided full protection against IPNV, no protection of the TO cells were observed against ISAV. This study clearly describes that ISAV possess mechanisms that enable the virus to evade the IFN system response in Atlantic salmon.

# II. Induction of interferon system genes in Atlantic salmon by the imidazoquinoline S-27609, a ligand for Toll-like receptor 7

Imidazoquinolines are synthetic low molecular compounds with antiviral and antitumor activity, and they are demonstrated to be ligands for TLR7 and TLR8. The antiviral properties of imidazoquinolines have much been ascribed to induction of IFN– $\alpha$  from innate immune cells in the blood, especially the plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDC). In this study we show that imidazoquinolines, represented by S-27609, has potent stimulatory effect on the Atlantic salmon IFN system. Injection of S-27609 induced transcription of IFN– $\alpha$ 1/ $\alpha$ 2, Mx and ISG15 in several organs of salmon, which suggest that salmon respond to this treatment through TLR7-like receptors. The stimulatory effects of S-27609 were compared to poly I:C, which is a ligand for MDA5 in most cells and for TLR3 in some of the immune cells. Transcript levels were measured in head kidney and liver, and the treatments induced expression of IFN- $\alpha$ 1/ $\alpha$ 2, Mx and ISG15 in both organs. In liver poly I:C proved to induce a stronger and more prolonged expression of IFN- $\alpha 1/\alpha 2$  than S-27609. Surprisingly this was not reflected in the kinetics of Mx and ISG15 transcription, which were comparable after both treatments. In head kidney poly I:C induced IFN- $\alpha 1/\alpha 2$  transcription early with a peak after 24 hours, and Mx and ISG15 showed a prolonged induction after 14 hours. S-27609 induced a biphasic expression of IFN- $\alpha 1/\alpha 2$ , with a low peak after 14 hours and a continuous strong increase after 48 hours. Mx levels were observed to increase steadily from 14 hours until the end of the study. ISG15 increased steadily until peak levels after 48 hours, after which transcript levels started to decline. A possible explanation for the differences displayed by the two treatments could be that S-27609 induce IFN through immune cells such as pDCs, while poly I:C induce a general response in most nucleated cells.

# III. Molecular and functional characterization of two infectious salmon anaemia virus (ISAV) proteins with type I interferon antagonizing activity

In this study we characterize two proteins encoded by the two smallest genomic segments of the piscine orthomyxovirus infectious salmon anaemia virus (ISAV). Both proteins, encoded by the un-spliced ORF from genomic segment 7 (s7ORF1) and the larger ORF from segment 8 (s8ORF2), are involved in modulation of the type I interferon response. The data suggests that the s7ORF1 protein is collinearly encoded, non-structural, contains no nuclear localisation signals, localises mainly to the cytoplasmic perinuclear area and does not bind single- or double-stranded RNA. On the other hand, genomic segment 8 uses a bicistronic coding strategy and the encoded s8ORF2 protein is a structural component of the viral particle. This protein contains two nuclear localisation signals, has a predominantly nuclear localisation, binds both double-stranded RNA and poly-A tailed single-stranded RNA, but not double-stranded DNA. In poly I:C stimulated salmon cells both ISAV proteins independently down-regulate the type I IFN promoter activity. Thus, ISAV counteracts the type I IFN response by the action of at least two of its gene products, rather than just one, as appears to be the case for other known members of the *Orthomyxoviridae*.

# IV. An Atlantic salmon IRF-7 gene identified by analysis of sequence and function and its expression compared with a STAT1 gene

Interferon regulatory factor 7 (IRF-7) plays a crucial role in virus-induced activation of interferon- $\alpha/\beta$  transcription in mammals. This work describes a structural and functional homologue of mammalian IRF-7 from Atlantic salmon. The cloned gene encodes a putative protein of 415 amino acids, which in phylogenetic analysis groups with other fish IRF-7 like proteins in the vertebrate IRF-3/IRF-7 family. Using an IFN promoter-luciferase assay we showed that salmon IRF-7 gave increased promoter activity after poly I:C stimulation. Transcript levels of IRF-7 were measured by real-time RT-PCR and compared to those of signal transducer and activator of transcription 1 (STAT1), which is important for transcriptional activation of IFN stimulated genes. Recombinant salmon IFN-α1 and poly I:C proved to be potent inducers of IRF-7 and STAT1 in Atlantic salmon TO cells, and poly I:C also induced both genes in head kidney and liver of Atlantic salmon. However, differences in transcription kinetics between IRF-7 and STAT1 indicate that the genes are regulated through different pathways. Finally, infectious salmon anemia virus (ISAV) infection of TO cells induced early synthesis of STAT1, whereas IRF-7 transcription was up-regulated much later. This indicates that IRF-7 synthesis is a possible target for antagonism of the IFN system by ISAV in Atlantic salmon.

#### **3. Discussion**

The type I IFN system is evolutionary conserved among the vertebrates, and despite certain differences it appears to have similar functions in fish and mammals. At the functional level fish appear to utilize similar receptors as mammals to recognize conserved pathogen structures such as RNA and DNA in order to induce the IFN system. We have shown in paper II that salmon responds to the imidazoquinoline S-27609, a specific ligand for TLR7 in mammals, by inducing expression of IFN and several ISGs with known antiviral activities. Even though stimulation with poly I:C also induced the same set of genes in salmon, there where certain discrepancies between the two treatments that suggest that these stimulants are recognized by different receptors or cell types. Plasmacytoid DCs use TLR7 to detect ssRNA, and in this cell type the transcription factor IRF-7 plays a vital role. In paper IV we have characterised an IRF-7 like protein from salmon. IRF-7 is the major regulator of IFN transcription in all mammalian cells, and structural and functional studies suggest that the salmon protein has similar tasks. As one of the important functions of the IFN system is to inhibit viral infections, we have investigated the interaction between salmon and ISAV (paper I, III and IV). These studies show that the virus is a strong inducer of the IFN system if salmon, but at the same time ISAV has developed efficient mechanisms to avoid the countermeasures from the host.

The results are discussed in detail in paper I-IV, but some selected and updated topics will be discussed further in the following sections.

#### 3.1 Poly I:C and S-27609 as modulators of the IFN response

The innate receptors involved in activation of the IFN system have been extensively studied in mammals and a general picture of their distribution and function is now emerging. RIG-I and MDA5 are regarded as the most important receptors for viral RNA in non-immunological cells [21]. Immune cells detect viral RNA and DNA through TLR3, 7, 8 and 9 [39].

In mammals, poly I:C is detected by MDA5 and TLR3 [22,49]. Both receptors signal through pathways that regulate the transcription factors IRF-3, IRF-7 and NF- $\kappa$ B, which in turn activate transcription of the IFN- $\beta$  gene [112,120,151]. Rainbow trout possesses TLR3 and many of the downstream signalling partners for TLR3 is found in zebrafish [255,302,303]. In addition, sequence data in Genbank suggest that zebrafish also possess RIG-I (Accession number cd594255) and MDA5 (accession number xm\_689032) [303]. It is thus very likely that fish detect poly I:C through similar mechanisms as mammals.

As described earlier and in paper I, II, III and IV, poly I:C is the most frequently used stimulator of the IFN system in fish and it is equally suited to induce IFN system genes both *in vivo* and *in vitro* [239]. The expression of IFN- $\alpha$ 1/ $\alpha$ 2, Mx and ISG15 is comparable in liver and head kidney of salmon after poly I:C stimulation, and this suggest that most cells respond to this treatment by activation of the IFN system. In paper I we have performed a time-scale study to observe the kinetics of IFN- $\alpha$ 1/ $\alpha$ 2 and Mx transcription upon poly I:C stimulation in TO cells. Expression of IFN- $\alpha$ 1/ $\alpha$ 2 was induced after 6 hours, displayed a biphasic kinetic with the strongest peak after 18 hours and a second and weaker peak after 48 hours. In comparison Mx transcripts increased after 30 hours and reached peak levels after 48 hours, indicating that TO cells responds to poly I:C by synthesis of IFN which in turn induce expression of Mx. A similar picture is observed (paper IV) concerning IRF-7 and STAT1 kinetics after poly I:C and rSasaIFN- $\alpha$ 1 stimulation. IRF-7 and STAT1 transcript levels did

not increase until 16 hours after poly I:C stimulation, in comparison to rSasaIFN- $\alpha$ 1 which induced both genes as early as three hours after stimulation. In mammals both genes are induced by IFN, and this seems to be the case in salmon and other fishes.

The ability to induce IFN and ISGs both in cultivated cells and salmon indicate that poly I:C is detected by receptors with an ubiquitous distribution. The most obvious receptor for poly I:C in fish is MDA5, but also immune cells with TLR3 is likely to participate in activation of the IFN system *in vivo*.

S-27609 is a ligand for TLR7 in mammals [76,77]. TLR7 is found in specific immune cells such as pDCs, and ligand recognition activates a signalling pathway through MyD88 and IRF-7 which enable these cells to produce high levels of IFN- $\alpha$ s [84]. Although pDCs constitute a small fraction of the total number of cells in the blood, these cell types are responsible for a major part of the IFNs produced in response to virus infection [304].

Fish appear to possess both TLR7, MyD88 and DCs, it is thus reasonable to assume that salmon respond to the TLR-7 ligand S-27609 by similar mechanisms as mammals does [255,305-311]. In paper II we show that S-27609 induces high levels of IFN, Mx and ISG15 in head kidney and liver in salmon, but in contrast to poly I:C stimulation the expression was most pronounced in head kidney. Head kidney is one of the primary immunological organs in fish and the presence of activated immune cells at this site can explain the differences between the two treatments. One point that should be mentioned is that most immunological organs. When we observe high levels of IFN and ISGs after S-27609 stimulation, this could also reflect increased migration of effector cells to the head kidney. It is also possible that additional IFN-genes not detected by our assays affect ISG expression by S-27609. These assays are designed to recognize the only two salmon IFN genes characterized so far, thus

other IFN-genes are not likely to be detected. Salmon possess two other classes of IFN genes that may be involved in S-27609 signalling (Robertsen et al, unpublished). The kinetics in head kidney of S-27609 stimulated salmon indicate that additional IFNs are induced, because Mx and ISG transcripts are increasing early without any IFN transcription. This is also evident in liver, where S-27609 induces a weak transcription of IFN compared to poly I:C, but at the same time induce an equivalent expression of Mx and ISG15 mRNA as poly I:C.

Our studies show that both poly I:C and S-27609 induces expression of key genes of the IFN system in salmon. One important difference between these stimulants is that TO cells are insensitive to S-27609, whereas poly I:C is a strong inducer of the IFN system in these cells. This observation support the hypothesis that S-27609 is detected by immune cells such as pDCs while poly I:C is recognized by receptors present in all nucleated cells.

#### 3.2 The role of IRF-7 in IFN-dependent immune responses in salmon

In mammals, IRF-7 is essential for the induction of IFN- $\alpha/\beta$  genes in response to virus infection [120]. In most non-immunological cells IRF-7 display a weak constitutive expression sufficient to participate in the initial induction of IFN- $\beta$  during virus infection [112,312]. However, IRF-7 transcription is also induced by IFN stimulation and is thus involved in enhancement of the IFN induction [115,118]. IRF-7 is constitutively expressed in pDCs, and the robust synthesis of IFNs in response to virus infections by these cells is totally dependent of IRF-7 [120].

We have investigated the properties of a salmon IRF-7-like gene in paper IV. Our studies show that salmon IRF-7 is induced by poly I:C, rSasaIFN- $\alpha$ 1 and ISAV infection, and transient transfection of IRF-7 *in vitro* shows that the protein up-regulate IFN promoter activity. Even though IRF-7 was induced by ISAV infection, we observed that IRF-7 transcripts appeared at a late stage (48 hours) after infection. In contrast, STAT1 was induced

four hours after infection, and poly I:C and rSasaIFN- $\alpha$ 1 treatment induced IRF-7 and STAT1 at similar time points. Thus, ISAV functions as a negative regulator of IRF-7 during infection, whereas STAT1 transcription is unaffected by the virus.

These observations points out that the salmon IRF-7 is involved in regulation of IFN expression and possesses similar properties as described in mammals. As ISAV have evolved a strategy to inhibit induction of IRF-7, this strongly suggests that the gene has an important role in the cell during viral infections. ISAV also inhibit transcription of other genes during infection, thus this subject will be discussed further in section 3.3. However, it still remains elusive whether fish IRF-7 is the main regulator of IFN transcription as observed with mammalian IRF-7 [120].

#### 3.3 In vitro interactions between salmon and ISAV

As described in paper I, infection of ISAV induces high levels of IFN, Mx and ISG15 transcripts both *in vivo* and *in vitro*. The insensitivity of TO cells to S-27609 suggests that ISAV is recognized by other receptors than TLR7 *in vitro* and cytoplasmic receptors such as RIG-I and MDA5 are obvious candidates because these are the main receptors that detect pathogens in non-immune cells. In TO cells, Mx and ISG15 transcripts levels were increasing as early as four hours after ISAV infection. This contradicts the hypothesis put forward in a previous study that suggests that the ISAV S7ORF1 protein inhibits signalling through the Jak/STAT pathway [301]. On the other hand, this is consistent with earlier work showing that TO cells respond to ISAV infection by producing high levels of Mx and ISG15 proteins as early as 24 hours after infection [245,252]. TO cells are thus able to induce transcription of ISGs and synthesize these proteins in response to infection by the virus. We also observed elevated levels of ISAV transcripts immediately after infection and it is likely that the cell induce expression of ISGs in response to viral replication. Similar mechanisms is described in

human cells upon entry of enveloped viruses and result in transcription of ISGs independent of IFN stimulation [159,160]. This IFN-independent mechanism is dependent of ongoing viral replication and results in hyper-phosphorylation of IRF-3.

Whereas Mx and ISG15 were induced immediately after infection and transcript levels continued to increase throughout the study, IFN displayed different kinetics by being induced at considerably later time points. The first 36 hours after infection no transcription of IFN was observed, while the period from 48 to 96 hours was marked by a pronounced increase of IFN transcripts. These observations show that ISAV is a strong inducer of IFN in TO cells, but compared to Mx and ISG15 it is also obvious that the virus inhibit or delays IFN transcription. This is in agreement with a previous study, where we show that the IFN promoter is first induced 48 hours after infection and increases to peak levels after 96 hours [253].

In paper IV we investigated the expression patterns of IRF-7 and STAT1 after stimulation of rSasaIFN- $\alpha$ 1 and poly I:C in addition to ISAV infection. We observed that poly I:C and IFN stimulation of TO cells induced transcription of both genes at an early stage and with similar kinetics. ISAV infection had a different influence on the transcription of these genes. STAT1 was induced after three hours infection and had similar kinetic as Mx and ISG15. IRF-7 transcription was absent until 36 hours after infection and appeared to be inhibited in a similar fashion as IFN.

In paper I, we have also investigated the ability of rSasaIFN- $\alpha$ 1 to protect TO cells against ISAV and IPNV infection. As ISAV appears to have evolved a strategy to inhibit transcription of IFN and IRF-7, it is reasonable to assume that the IFN system of salmon possess some mechanisms to inhibit replication of the virus. In this study TO cells were stimulated with rSasaIFN- $\alpha$ 1 prior to infection with ISAV and IPNV. rSasaIFN- $\alpha$ 1 induces an antiviral state in the cells that provide strong protection against IPNV and previous studies

have shown that Mx is one of the proteins that inhibit replication of the virus [280]. In contrast, rSasaIFN- $\alpha$ 1 was unable to provide any protection against ISAV in TO cells.

The observation that ISAV is not inhibited by the antiviral state induced by rSasaIFN- $\alpha$ 1 stimulation in TO cells suggests that the virus have evolved mechanisms to evade or antagonize the IFN system responses in salmon. Because TO cells synthesize Mx and ISG15 in response to ISAV infection, it is evident that the virus is not affected by the presence of these proteins in the cells [245,252]. Nonetheless, a multitude of ISGs are synthesized by the cell and there is still limited knowledge about how they participate in the response against virus infections. Thus, it is possible that ISAV targets other ISGs that may interfere with virus replication, but these are at the time not known.

What we do know from our studies is that IFN and IRF-7 transcription is affected by ISAV infection. One possible explanation is that IFN and IRF-7 have similar promoter regions and that ISAV targets transcription factors that are common for these genes and not for Mx, ISG15 and STAT1. It is also possible that ISAV inhibits transcription of other important antiviral ISGs with similar promoter regions as IFN and IRF-7, because rSasaIFNα1 stimulation does not inhibit ISAV replication.

Orthomyxoviruses such as influenza and THOV have different strategies to inhibit IFN transcription, but a common trait for these viruses is that they block transcription of IFN- $\beta$  through inhibition of IRF-3 during infection [313-315]. In human, transcription of IRF-7 is regulated through different pathways [316,317]. One of these pathways is independent of IFN signalling, is activated directly by virus infection and involves formation of the virus-activated factor (VAF) which is composed of IRF-3, IRF-7 and additional co-activators [104,316]. VAF bind efficiently to ISRE sites in the promoters of both IFN- $\beta$  and IRF-7 during virus infection, and not only initiate IFN- $\beta$  transcription but also enhance this step by

increased synthesis of IRF-7. If similar mechanisms are present in salmon, this could explain why both IFN and IRF-7 transcription is inhibited during ISAV infection.

#### 3.4 In vivo interactions between salmon and ISAV

We have shown in paper I that salmon responds to ISAV infection by activating the IFN system. Even though transcription of IFN system genes is induced and the antiviral proteins Mx and ISG15 are synthesized in organs of infected salmon, these countermeasures are insufficient to limit ISAV replication. The ISAV isolate used in this study is highly virulent and originate from an outbreak in Norway [318,319]. This was confirmed by the cohabitee infection trial, where all the salmon injected intraperitoneally with 100 ISAV particles were dead after 22 days and all the cohabitees after 38 days. Even though salmon responds to ISAV infection by inducing a powerful IFN system response, these countermeasures are insufficient to inhibit viral replication. However, a previous study has shown that poly I:C stimulation provides some protection against ISAV infection in vivo [243]. This indicates that the IFN system of salmon interferes with ISAV replication, even though the virus has evolved efficient mechanisms to circumvent the hosts' immune response. The immune response *in vivo* involves different effector cells such as macrophages, NK-cells and DCs and also results in activation of adaptive immune responses. The immune response in vivo is thus considerably more complex than in vitro. Nonetheless, our studies of ISAV infection in TO cells could provide some clues about virus-host interactions in general. ISAV inhibits transcription of IFN and IRF-7, and these genes are involved in bridging innate and adaptive immune responses [320,321]. The ability to inhibit transcription of IFN and IRF-7 could have more far-reaching implications than just inhibit IFN responses in the infected cell. Antagonism of the IFN system may therefore serve to delay or inhibit activation of adaptive immune responses by the host.

#### 3.5 ISAV S7ORF1 and S8ORF2- proteins with IFN antagonistic properties

Using the IFN-promoter luciferase assay we have previously shown that ISAV activates the IFN promoter in TO cells [253]. Similar to the transcription kinetics of IFN described above, ISAV induces the IFN promoter at a late stage of infection. We have used the IFN-promoter luciferase assay to elucidate the properties of two ISAV proteins encoded by S7ORF1 and S8ORF2. Our results show that both S7ORF1 and S8ORF2 had a negative effect on the IFN promoter after poly I:C stimulation. The strongest impact was observed with S7ORF1 which reduced IFN-promoter activity with a 7.6 fold decrease, while S8ORF2 resulted in a 3.1 fold decrease. One interesting observation is that co-transfection of the ISAV genes does not have a cumulative effect on the IFN-promoter compared to effect of the genes alone. This suggests that the two proteins inhibit different steps of the signalling pathways that induce the expression of IFN-genes. In addition to our work, a previous study has showed that the ISAV S7ORF1 protein is a negative regulator of the Mx promoter [301]. We did not study the effect on the Mx promoter, but this contradicts our results because we show that ISAV is a potent inducer of Mx and ISG15 in TO cells.

The apparent existence of two proteins with IFN-antagonistic properties makes ISAV a unique member of the orthomyxovirus family, because the other influenza-viruses characterized so far possess only one IFN-antagonistic gene in their genome. As an example, the NS1 of influenza A (NS1A) viruses is a multipurpose protein capable of both sequestering dsRNA to avoid detection by the PKR and/or OAS and also capable of blocking the signalling pathway that activate IFN transcription [313]. These properties are also found in the two ISAV proteins. S8ORF2 has the ability to bind dsRNA and is localized to the nucleus, and similar to NS1A it possesses two nuclear localization signals (NLS) that are important for translocation [322]. Because ISAV and orthomyxoviruses generally replicate in the nucleus, the presence of these proteins in this compartment is likely to have an important function for the virus [286].

The exact function of S7ORF1 remains elusive, but we and others have shown that the protein has cytoplasmic localization, does not bind RNA and have a strong inhibitory effect on the IFN-promoter [301]. These properties could indicate that S7ORF1 interacts with proteins located to the cytoplasm that are involved in signalling pathways that regulate IFN and IRF-7 transcription. However, what cellular factors ISAV targets to antagonize induction of IFN is at present still unknown.

#### **3.6 Future perspectives**

Our studies show that the IFN system of salmon is unable to limit ISAV infections in vitro and in vivo. ISAV inhibit induction of IFN and IRF-7 and replicates efficient in IFN treated TO cells. The ability to evade the IFN response indicates that ISAV targets other antiviral ISGs than Mx and ISG15, because our and previous studies show that transcription and protein synthesis of the latter is not affected by the virus [245,252]. S8ORF2 binds and possibly sequester dsRNA, making PKR a probable target as seen with influenza A which inhibit activation of both PKR and OAS [222,227]. Thus, interactions between ISAV proteins and salmon ISGs such as PKR need to be studied in more details. S7ORF1 on the other hand may interact with proteins involved in the signalling pathways of IFN and IRF-7 as it is localized in the cytoplasm and as it lacks RNA-binding properties. Candidates for this interaction could be the RNA-binding receptors and associated adaptors, since influenza A appears to bind both RIG-I and MAVS [231,232]. Other options are the transcription factors IRF-3, IRF-7 and NF-κB, as several orthomyxoviruses are shown to regulate the activity of IRF-3 [313-315]. However, this calls for more functional studies of the pathways that regulate IFN transcription and how ISAV possibly interact with these. Our studies show that IRF-7 is involved in the regulation of IFN in salmon and it is inhibited by ISAV. What remains to be elucidated is the role IRF-7 has in salmon compared to the other IRFs.

Fish IFN genes appear to have a different organisation from that of higher vertebrates, as salmon seems to possess three classes of IFN (personal communication with Robertsen, R). These could have a specific tissue distribution, as S-27609 stimulation induces expression of ISGs without any prominent induction of IFN- $\alpha$ 1/ $\alpha$ 2 in organs of salmon. Thus, there are still gaps that need to be filled in order to fully understand the IFN system in fish and how this interacts with virus infections.

### **Main conclusions**

- The synthetic ssRNA analogue S-27609 activates the IFN system of salmon, possibly through specialised immune cells similar to the mammalian pDCs.
- Salmon possess an IRF-7 like protein involved in regulation of the IFN system.
- ISAV is a powerful inducer of some key genes of the salmon IFN system, but inhibits induction of others.
- ISAV have evolved mechanisms to antagonize the IFN system, because ISAV replication is not inhibited in TO cells treated with IFN.
- The ISAV genome encodes two proteins with IFN antagonistic properties. Our studies show that both of these proteins are negative regulators of the IFN promoter.

### 5. References

- [1] Katsikis, P.D., Schoenberger, S.P. and Pulendran, B. (2007) Probing the 'labyrinth' linking the innate and adaptive immune systems. Nat Immunol 8, 899-901.
- [2] Pearce, E.J., Kane, C.M. and Sun, J. (2006) Regulation of dendritic cell function by pathogen-derived molecules plays a key role in dictating the outcome of the adaptive immune response. Chem Immunol Allergy 90, 82-90.
- [3] Lindenmann, J., Burke, D.C. and Isaacs, A. (1957) Studies on the production, mode of action and properties of interferon. Br J Exp Pathol 38, 551-62.
- [4] Kontsek, P., Karayianni-Vasconcelos, G. and Kontsekova, E. (2003) The human interferon system: characterization and classification after discovery of novel members. Acta Virol 47, 201-15.
- [5] Pestka, S., Krause, C.D. and Walter, M.R. (2004) Interferons, interferon-like cytokines, and their receptors. Immunol Rev 202, 8-32.
- [6] Samuel, C.E. (2001) Antiviral actions of interferons. Clin Microbiol Rev 14, 778-809.
- [7] Colonna, M., Trinchieri, G. and Liu, Y.J. (2004) Plasmacytoid dendritic cells in immunity. Nat Immunol 5, 1219-26.
- [8] Sen, G.C. (2001) Viruses and interferons. Annu Rev Microbiol 55, 255-81.
- [9] Naylor, S.L., Sakaguchi, A.Y., Shows, T.B., Law, M.L., Goeddel, D.V. and Gray, P.W. (1983) Human immune interferon gene is located on chromosome 12. J Exp Med 157, 1020-7.
- [10] Schroder, K., Hertzog, P.J., Ravasi, T. and Hume, D.A. (2004) Interferon-gamma: an overview of signals, mechanisms and functions. J Leukoc Biol 75, 163-89.
- [11] Biron, C.A. and Sen, G.C. (2001) Interferons and other cytokines. In: Knipe, D.M., et al, editors. Fields virology. Philadelphia: Lippincott-Raven; 2001. 373-9.
- [12] Shtrichman, R. and Samuel, C.E. (2001) The role of gamma interferon in antimicrobial immunity. Curr Opin Microbiol 4, 251-9.
- [13] Boehm, U., Klamp, T., Groot, M. and Howard, J.C. (1997) Cellular responses to interferon-gamma. Annu Rev Immunol 15, 749-95.
- [14] Kotenko, S.V., Gallagher, G., Baurin, V.V., Lewis-Antes, A., Shen, M., Shah, N.K., Langer, J.A., Sheikh, F., Dickensheets, H. and Donnelly, R.P. (2003) IFN-lambdas mediate antiviral protection through a distinct class II cytokine receptor complex. Nat Immunol 4, 69-77.
- [15] Sheppard, P., Kindsvogel, W., Xu, W., Henderson, K., Schlutsmeyer, S., Whitmore, T.E., Kuestner, R., Garrigues, U., Birks, C., Roraback, J., Ostrander, C., Dong, D., Shin, J., Presnell, S., Fox, B., Haldeman, B., Cooper, E., Taft, D., Gilbert, T., Grant, F.J., Tackett, M., Krivan, W., McKnight, G., Clegg, C., Foster, D. and Klucher, K.M. (2003) IL-28, IL-29 and their class II cytokine receptor IL-28R. Nat Immunol 4, 63-8.
- [16] Vilcek, J. (2003) Novel interferons. Nat Immunol 4, 8-9.
- [17] Yoneyama, M. and Fujita, T. (2007) Function of RIG-I-like receptors in antiviral innate immunity. J Biol Chem 282, 15315-8.
- [18] Yoneyama, M., Kikuchi, M., Matsumoto, K., Imaizumi, T., Miyagishi, M., Taira, K., Foy, E., Loo, Y.M., Gale, M., Jr., Akira, S., Yonehara, S., Kato, A. and Fujita, T. (2005) Shared and unique functions of the DExD/H-box helicases RIG-I, MDA5, and LGP2 in antiviral innate immunity. J Immunol 175, 2851-8.
- [19] Hornung, V., Ellegast, J., Kim, S., Brzozka, K., Jung, A., Kato, H., Poeck, H., Akira, S., Conzelmann, K.K., Schlee, M., Endres, S. and Hartmann, G. (2006) 5'-Triphosphate RNA is the ligand for RIG-I. Science 314, 994-7.

- [20] Yoneyama, M., Kikuchi, M., Natsukawa, T., Shinobu, N., Imaizumi, T., Miyagishi, M., Taira, K., Akira, S. and Fujita, T. (2004) The RNA helicase RIG-I has an essential function in double-stranded RNA-induced innate antiviral responses. Nat Immunol. 5, 730-737.
- [21] Kato, H., Takeuchi, O., Sato, S., Yoneyama, M., Yamamoto, M., Matsui, K., Uematsu, S., Jung, A., Kawai, T., Ishii, K.J., Yamaguchi, O., Otsu, K., Tsujimura, T., Koh, C.-S., Reis e Sousa, C., Matsuura, Y., Fujita, T. and Akira, S. (2006) Differential roles of MDA5 and RIG-I helicases in the recognition of RNA viruses. Nature 441, 101-105.
- [22] Kang, D.-c., Gopalkrishnan, R.V., Wu, Q., Jankowsky, E., Pyle, A.M. and Fisher, P.B. (2002) mda-5: An interferon-inducible putative RNA helicase with double-stranded RNA-dependent ATPase activity and melanoma growth-suppressive properties. PNAS 99, 637-642.
- [23] Loo, Y.M., Fornek, J., Crochet, N., Bajwa, G., Perwitasari, O., Martinez-Sobrido, L., Akira, S., Gill, M.A., Garcia-Sastre, A., Katze, M.G. and Gale, M., Jr. (2008) Distinct RIG-I and MDA5 signaling by RNA viruses in innate immunity. J Virol 82, 335-45.
- [24] Garcia, M.A., Gil, J., Ventoso, I., Guerra, S., Domingo, E., Rivas, C. and Esteban, M. (2006) Impact of protein kinase PKR in cell biology: from antiviral to antiproliferative action. Microbiol Mol Biol Rev 70, 1032-60.
- [25] Clemens, M.J. (2005) Translational control in virus-infected cells: models for cellular stress responses. Semin Cell Dev Biol 16, 13-20.
- [26] Bonnet, M.C., Daurat, C., Ottone, C. and Meurs, E.F. (2006) The N-terminus of PKR is responsible for the activation of the NF-kappaB signaling pathway by interacting with the IKK complex. Cell Signal 18, 1865-75.
- [27] Bonnet, M.C., Weil, R., Dam, E., Hovanessian, A.G. and Meurs, E.F. (2000) PKR stimulates NF-kappaB irrespective of its kinase function by interacting with the IkappaB kinase complex. Mol Cell Biol 20, 4532-42.
- [28] Hu, C.Y., Zhang, Y.B., Huang, G.P., Zhang, Q.Y. and Gui, J.F. (2004) Molecular cloning and characterisation of a fish PKR-like gene from cultured CAB cells induced by UV-inactivated virus. Fish Shellfish Immunol 17, 353-66.
- [29] Rothenburg, S., Deigendesch, N., Dittmar, K., Koch-Nolte, F., Haag, F., Lowenhaupt, K. and Rich, A. (2005) A PKR-like eukaryotic initiation factor 2alpha kinase from zebrafish contains Z-DNA binding domains instead of dsRNA binding domains. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102, 1602-7.
- [30] Bergan, V., Jagus, R., Lauksund, S., Kileng, O. and Robertsen, B. (2007) The Atlantic salmon Z-DNA binding protein kinase phosphorylates translation initiation factor 2 alpha and constitutes a unique orthologue to the mammalian dsRNA-activated protein kinase R. Febs J.
- [31] Rich, A. and Zhang, S. (2003) Timeline: Z-DNA: the long road to biological function. Nat Rev Genet 4, 566-72.
- [32] Herbert, A. and Rich, A. (1999) Left-handed Z-DNA: structure and function. Genetica 106, 37-47.
- [33] Liu, L.F. and Wang, J.C. (1987) Supercoiling of the DNA template during transcription. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 84, 7024-7.
- [34] Takaoka, A., Wang, Z., Choi, M.K., Yanai, H., Negishi, H., Ban, T., Lu, Y., Miyagishi, M., Kodama, T., Honda, K., Ohba, Y. and Taniguchi, T. (2007) DAI (DLM-1/ZBP1) is a cytosolic DNA sensor and an activator of innate immune response. Nature 448, 501-5.
- [35] Hochrein, H., Schlatter, B., O'Keeffe, M., Wagner, C., Schmitz, F., Schiemann, M., Bauer, S., Suter, M. and Wagner, H. (2004) Herpes simplex virus type-1 induces IFN-

alpha production via Toll-like receptor 9-dependent and -independent pathways. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101, 11416-21.

- [36] Ishii, K.J., Coban, C., Kato, H., Takahashi, K., Torii, Y., Takeshita, F., Ludwig, H., Sutter, G., Suzuki, K., Hemmi, H., Sato, S., Yamamoto, M., Uematsu, S., Kawai, T., Takeuchi, O. and Akira, S. (2006) A Toll-like receptor-independent antiviral response induced by double-stranded B-form DNA. Nat Immunol 7, 40-8.
- [37] Stetson, D.B. and Medzhitov, R. (2006) Recognition of cytosolic DNA activates an IRF3-dependent innate immune response. Immunity 24, 93-103.
- [38] Theofilopoulos, A.N., Baccala, R., Beutler, B. and Kono, D.H. (2005) Type I interferons (alpha/beta) in immunity and autoimmunity. Annu Rev Immunol 23, 307-36.
- [39] Takeda, K. and Akira, S. (2005) Toll-like receptors in innate immunity. Int Immunol 17, 1-14.
- [40] Takeda, K., Kaisho, T. and Akira, S. (2003) Toll-like receptors. Annu Rev Immunol 21, 335-76.
- [41] Akira, S., Takeda, K. and Kaisho, T. (2001) Toll-like receptors: critical proteins linking innate and acquired immunity. Nat Immunol 2, 675-80.
- [42] Uematsu, S. and Akira, S. (2007) Toll-like receptors and Type I interferons. J Biol Chem 282, 15319-23.
- [43] Diebold, S.S., Kaisho, T., Hemmi, H., Akira, S. and Reis e Sousa, C. (2004) Innate Antiviral Responses by Means of TLR7-Mediated Recognition of Single-Stranded RNA. Science 303, 1529-1531.
- [44] Heil, F., Ahmad-Nejad, P., Hemmi, H., Hochrein, H., Ampenberger, F., Gellert, T., Dietrich, H., Lipford, G., Takeda, K., Akira, S., Wagner, H. and Bauer, S. (2003) The Toll-like receptor 7 (TLR7)-specific stimulus loxoribine uncovers a strong relationship within the TLR7, 8 and 9 subfamily. Eur J Immunol 33, 2987-97.
- [45] Lund, J., Sato, A., Akira, S., Medzhitov, R. and Iwasaki, A. (2003) Toll-like receptor 9-mediated recognition of Herpes simplex virus-2 by plasmacytoid dendritic cells. J Exp Med 198, 513-20.
- [46] Lund, J.M., Alexopoulou, L., Sato, A., Karow, M., Adams, N.C., Gale, N.W., Iwasaki, A. and Flavell, R.A. (2004) Recognition of single-stranded RNA viruses by Toll-like receptor 7. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 101, 5598-603.
- [47] Lee, J., Chuang, T.H., Redecke, V., She, L., Pitha, P.M., Carson, D.A., Raz, E. and Cottam, H.B. (2003) Molecular basis for the immunostimulatory activity of guanine nucleoside analogs: activation of Toll-like receptor 7. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100, 6646-51.
- [48] Matsumoto, M., Funami, K., Tanabe, M., Oshiumi, H., Shingai, M., Seto, Y., Yamamoto, A. and Seya, T. (2003) Subcellular localization of Toll-like receptor 3 in human dendritic cells. J Immunol 171, 3154-62.
- [49] Alexopoulou, L., Holt, A.C., Medzhitov, R. and Flavell, R.A. (2001) Recognition of double-stranded RNA and activation of NF- kappa B by Toll-like receptor 3. Nature 413, 732-738.
- [50] Gowen, B.B., Wong, M.H., Jung, K.H., Sanders, A.B., Mitchell, W.M., Alexopoulou, L., Flavell, R.A. and Sidwell, R.W. (2007) TLR3 is essential for the induction of protective immunity against Punta Toro Virus infection by the double-stranded RNA (dsRNA), poly(I:C12U), but not Poly(I:C): differential recognition of synthetic dsRNA molecules. J Immunol 178, 5200-8.
- [51] Cario, E. and Podolsky, D.K. (2000) Differential alteration in intestinal epithelial cell expression of toll-like receptor 3 (TLR3) and TLR4 in inflammatory bowel disease. Infect Immun 68, 7010-7.

- [52] Muzio, M., Bosisio, D., Polentarutti, N., D'Amico, G., Stoppacciaro, A., Mancinelli, R., van't Veer, C., Penton-Rol, G., Ruco, L.P., Allavena, P. and Mantovani, A. (2000) Differential expression and regulation of toll-like receptors (TLR) in human leukocytes: selective expression of TLR3 in dendritic cells. J Immunol 164, 5998-6004.
- [53] Visintin, A., Mazzoni, A., Spitzer, J.H., Wyllie, D.H., Dower, S.K. and Segal, D.M. (2001) Regulation of Toll-like receptors in human monocytes and dendritic cells. J Immunol 166, 249-55.
- [54] Kadowaki, N., Ho, S., Antonenko, S., Malefyt, R.W., Kastelein, R.A., Bazan, F. and Liu, Y.J. (2001) Subsets of human dendritic cell precursors express different toll-like receptors and respond to different microbial antigens. J Exp Med 194, 863-9.
- [55] Hornung, V., Rothenfusser, S., Britsch, S., Krug, A., Jahrsdorfer, B., Giese, T., Endres, S. and Hartmann, G. (2002) Quantitative expression of toll-like receptor 1-10 mRNA in cellular subsets of human peripheral blood mononuclear cells and sensitivity to CpG oligodeoxynucleotides. J Immunol 168, 4531-7.
- [56] Schmidt, K.N., Leung, B., Kwong, M., Zarember, K.A., Satyal, S., Navas, T.A., Wang, F. and Godowski, P.J. (2004) APC-independent activation of NK cells by the Toll-like receptor 3 agonist double-stranded RNA. J Immunol 172, 138-43.
- [57] Lopez, C.B., Moltedo, B., Alexopoulou, L., Bonifaz, L., Flavell, R.A. and Moran, T.M. (2004) TLR-independent induction of dendritic cell maturation and adaptive immunity by negative-strand RNA viruses. J Immunol 173, 6882-9.
- [58] Edelmann, K.H., Richardson-Burns, S., Alexopoulou, L., Tyler, K.L., Flavell, R.A. and Oldstone, M.B. (2004) Does Toll-like receptor 3 play a biological role in virus infections? Virology 322, 231-8.
- [59] Wang, T., Town, T., Alexopoulou, L., Anderson, J.F., Fikrig, E. and Flavell, R.A. (2004) Toll-like receptor 3 mediates West Nile virus entry into the brain causing lethal encephalitis. Nat Med 10, 1366-73.
- [60] Okahira, S., Nishikawa, F., Nishikawa, S., Akazawa, T., Seya, T. and Matsumoto, M. (2005) Interferon-beta induction through toll-like receptor 3 depends on doublestranded RNA structure. DNA Cell Biol 24, 614-23.
- [61] Hoebe, K., Janssen, E.M., Kim, S.O., Alexopoulou, L., Flavell, R.A., Han, J. and Beutler, B. (2003) Upregulation of costimulatory molecules induced by lipopolysaccharide and double-stranded RNA occurs by Trif-dependent and Trifindependent pathways. Nat Immunol 4, 1223-9.
- [62] Honda, K., Sakaguchi, S., Nakajima, C., Watanabe, A., Yanai, H., Matsumoto, M., Ohteki, T., Kaisho, T., Takaoka, A., Akira, S., Seya, T. and Taniguchi, T. (2003) Selective contribution of IFN-alpha/beta signaling to the maturation of dendritic cells induced by double-stranded RNA or viral infection. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 100, 10872-7.
- [63] Nishiya, T., Kajita, E., Miwa, S. and Defranco, A.L. (2005) TLR3 and TLR7 are targeted to the same intracellular compartments by distinct regulatory elements. J Biol Chem 280, 37107-17.
- [64] Banchereau, J. and Steinman, R.M. (1998) Dendritic cells and the control of immunity. Nature 392, 245-52.
- [65] Bevan, M.J. (1976) Cross-priming for a secondary cytotoxic response to minor H antigens with H-2 congenic cells which do not cross-react in the cytotoxic assay. J Exp Med 143, 1283-8.
- [66] den Haan, J.M., Lehar, S.M. and Bevan, M.J. (2000) CD8(+) but not CD8(-) dendritic cells cross-prime cytotoxic T cells in vivo. J Exp Med 192, 1685-96.

- [67] Edwards, A.D., Diebold, S.S., Slack, E.M., Tomizawa, H., Hemmi, H., Kaisho, T., Akira, S. and Reis e Sousa, C. (2003) Toll-like receptor expression in murine DC subsets: lack of TLR7 expression by CD8 alpha+ DC correlates with unresponsiveness to imidazoquinolines. Eur J Immunol 33, 827-33.
- [68] Schulz, O., Diebold, S.S., Chen, M., Naslund, T.I., Nolte, M.A., Alexopoulou, L., Azuma, Y.T., Flavell, R.A., Liljestrom, P. and Reis e Sousa, C. (2005) Toll-like receptor 3 promotes cross-priming to virus-infected cells. Nature 433, 887-92.
- [69] Le Bon, A., Etchart, N., Rossmann, C., Ashton, M., Hou, S., Gewert, D., Borrow, P. and Tough, D.F. (2003) Cross-priming of CD8+ T cells stimulated by virus-induced type I interferon. Nat Immunol 4, 1009-15.
- [70] Barton, G.M., Kagan, J.C. and Medzhitov, R. (2006) Intracellular localization of Tolllike receptor 9 prevents recognition of self DNA but facilitates access to viral DNA. Nat Immunol 7, 49-56.
- [71] Nishiya, T. and DeFranco, A.L. (2004) Ligand-regulated chimeric receptor approach reveals distinctive subcellular localization and signaling properties of the Toll-like receptors. J Biol Chem 279, 19008-17.
- [72] Sioud, M. (2005) Induction of inflammatory cytokines and interferon responses by double-stranded and single-stranded siRNAs is sequence-dependent and requires endosomal localization. J Mol Biol 348, 1079-90.
- [73] Wang, J.P., Liu, P., Latz, E., Golenbock, D.T., Finberg, R.W. and Libraty, D.H.
  (2006) Flavivirus activation of plasmacytoid dendritic cells delineates key elements of TLR7 signaling beyond endosomal recognition. J Immunol 177, 7114-21.
- [74] Melchjorsen, J., Jensen, S.B., Malmgaard, L., Rasmussen, S.B., Weber, F., Bowie, A.G., Matikainen, S. and Paludan, S.R. (2005) Activation of innate defense against a paramyxovirus is mediated by RIG-I and TLR7 and TLR8 in a cell-type-specific manner. J Virol 79, 12944-51.
- [75] Heil, F., Hemmi, H., Hochrein, H., Ampenberger, F., Kirschning, C., Akira, S., Lipford, G., Wagner, H. and Bauer, S. (2004) Species-specific recognition of singlestranded RNA via toll-like receptor 7 and 8. Science 303, 1526-9.
- [76] Hemmi, H., Kaisho, T., Takeuchi, O., Sato, S., Sanjo, H., Hoshino, K., Horiuchi, T., Tomizawa, H., Takeda, K. and Akira, S. (2002) Small anti-viral compounds activate immune cells via the TLR7 MyD88-dependent signaling pathway. Nat immunol. 3, 196-200.
- [77] Doxsee, C.L., Riter, T.R., Reiter, M.J., Gibson, S.J., Vasilakos, J.P. and Kedl, R.M. (2003) The immune response modifier and Toll-like receptor 7 agonist S-27609 selectively induces IL-12 and TNF-alpha production in CD11c+CD11b+CD8dendritic cells. J Immunol 171, 1156-63.
- [78] Diebold, S.S., Massacrier, C., Akira, S., Paturel, C., Morel, Y. and Reis e Sousa, C. (2006) Nucleic acid agonists for Toll-like receptor 7 are defined by the presence of uridine ribonucleotides. Eur J Immunol 36, 3256-67.
- [79] Iwasaki, A. and Medzhitov, R. (2004) Toll-like receptor control of the adaptive immune responses. Nat Immunol 5, 987-95.
- [80] Jurk, M., Heil, F., Vollmer, J., Schetter, C., Krieg, A.M., Wagner, H., Lipford, G. and Bauer, S. (2002) Human TLR7 or TLR8 independently confer responsiveness to the antiviral compound R-848. Nat Immunol 3, 499.
- [81] Gorden, K.K., Qiu, X.X., Binsfeld, C.C., Vasilakos, J.P. and Alkan, S.S. (2006) Cutting edge: activation of murine TLR8 by a combination of imidazoquinoline immune response modifiers and polyT oligodeoxynucleotides. J Immunol 177, 6584-7.
- [82] Renn, C.N., Sanchez, D.J., Ochoa, M.T., Legaspi, A.J., Oh, C.K., Liu, P.T., Krutzik, S.R., Sieling, P.A., Cheng, G. and Modlin, R.L. (2006) TLR activation of Langerhans

cell-like dendritic cells triggers an antiviral immune response. J Immunol 177, 298-305.

- [83] Zarember, K.A. and Godowski, P.J. (2002) Tissue expression of human Toll-like receptors and differential regulation of Toll-like receptor mRNAs in leukocytes in response to microbes, their products, and cytokines. J Immunol 168, 554-61.
- [84] Kawai, T. and Akira, S. (2006) Innate immune recognition of viral infection. Nat Immunol 7, 131-137.
- [85] Hemmi, H., Takeuchi, O., Kawai, T., Kaisho, T., Sato, S., Sanjo, H., Matsumoto, M., Hoshino, K., Wagner, H., Takeda, K. and Akira, S. (2000) A Toll-like receptor recognizes bacterial DNA. Nature 408, 740-5.
- [86] Bauer, S., Kirschning, C.J., Hacker, H., Redecke, V., Hausmann, S., Akira, S., Wagner, H. and Lipford, G.B. (2001) Human TLR9 confers responsiveness to bacterial DNA via species-specific CpG motif recognition. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 98, 9237-42.
- [87] Seth, R.B., Sun, L., Ea, C.K. and Chen, Z.J. (2005) Identification and characterization of MAVS, a mitochondrial antiviral signaling protein that activates NF-kappaB and IRF 3. Cell 122, 669-82.
- [88] Gack, M.U., Shin, Y.C., Joo, C.H., Urano, T., Liang, C., Sun, L., Takeuchi, O., Akira, S., Chen, Z., Inoue, S. and Jung, J.U. (2007) TRIM25 RING-finger E3 ubiquitin ligase is essential for RIG-I-mediated antiviral activity. Nature 446, 916-920.
- [89] Kawai, T., Takahashi, K., Sato, S., Coban, C., Kumar, H., Kato, H., Ishii, K.J., Takeuchi, O. and Akira, S. (2005) IPS-1, an adaptor triggering RIG-I- and Mda5mediated type I interferon induction. Nat Immunol. 6, 981-988.
- [90] Meylan, E., Curran, J., Hofmann, K., Moradpour, D., Binder, M., Bartenschlager, R. and Tschopp, J. (2005) Cardif is an adaptor protein in the RIG-I antiviral pathway and is targeted by hepatitis C virus. Nature 437, 1167-72.
- [91] Xu, L.G., Wang, Y.Y., Han, K.J., Li, L.Y., Zhai, Z. and Shu, H.B. (2005) VISA is an adapter protein required for virus-triggered IFN-beta signaling. Mol Cell 19, 727-40.
- [92] Zhao, T., Yang, L., Sun, Q., Arguello, M., Ballard, D.W., Hiscott, J. and Lin, R. (2007) The NEMO adaptor bridges the nuclear factor-kappaB and interferon regulatory factor signaling pathways. Nat Immunol 8, 592-600.
- [93] Oganesyan, G., Saha, S.K., Guo, B., He, J.Q., Shahangian, A., Zarnegar, B., Perry, A. and Cheng, G. (2006) Critical role of TRAF3 in the Toll-like receptor-dependent and independent antiviral response. Nature 439, 208-11.
- [94] Kawai, T. and Akira, S. (2006) TLR signaling. Cell Death Differ 13, 816-25.
- [95] Oshiumi, H., Matsumoto, M., Funami, K., Akazawa, T. and Seya, T. (2003) TICAM-1, an adaptor molecule that participates in Toll-like receptor 3-mediated interferon-beta induction. Nat Immunol 4, 161-7.
- [96] Yamamoto, M., Sato, S., Mori, K., Hoshino, K., Takeuchi, O., Takeda, K. and Akira, S. (2002) Cutting edge: a novel Toll/IL-1 receptor domain-containing adapter that preferentially activates the IFN-beta promoter in the Toll-like receptor signaling. J Immunol 169, 6668-72.
- [97] Meylan, E., Burns, K., Hofmann, K., Blancheteau, V., Martinon, F., Kelliher, M. and Tschopp, J. (2004) RIP1 is an essential mediator of Toll-like receptor 3-induced NFkappa B activation. Nat Immunol 5, 503-7.
- [98] Sato, S., Sugiyama, M., Yamamoto, M., Watanabe, Y., Kawai, T., Takeda, K. and Akira, S. (2003) Toll/IL-1 receptor domain-containing adaptor inducing IFN-beta (TRIF) associates with TNF receptor-associated factor 6 and TANK-binding kinase 1, and activates two distinct transcription factors, NF-kappa B and IFN-regulatory factor-3, in the Toll-like receptor signaling. J Immunol 171, 4304-10.

- [99] Yamamoto, M., Sato, S., Hemmi, H., Uematsu, S., Hoshino, K., Kaisho, T., Takeuchi, O., Takeda, K. and Akira, S. (2003) TRAM is specifically involved in the Toll-like receptor 4-mediated MyD88-independent signaling pathway. Nat Immunol 4, 1144-50.
- [100] Hemmi, H., Kaisho, T., Takeda, K. and Akira, S. (2003) The roles of Toll-like receptor 9, MyD88, and DNA-dependent protein kinase catalytic subunit in the effects of two distinct CpG DNAs on dendritic cell subsets. J Immunol 170, 3059-64.
- [101] Honda, K., Yanai, H., Mizutani, T., Negishi, H., Shimada, N., Suzuki, N., Ohba, Y., Takaoka, A., Yeh, W.C. and Taniguchi, T. (2004) Role of a transductionaltranscriptional processor complex involving MyD88 and IRF-7 in Toll-like receptor signaling. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101, 15416-21.
- [102] Kawai, T., Sato, S., Ishii, K.J., Coban, C., Hemmi, H., Yamamoto, M., Terai, K., Matsuda, M., Inoue, J., Uematsu, S., Takeuchi, O. and Akira, S. (2004) Interferonalpha induction through Toll-like receptors involves a direct interaction of IRF7 with MyD88 and TRAF6. Nat Immunol 5, 1061-8.
- [103] Uematsu, S., Sato, S., Yamamoto, M., Hirotani, T., Kato, H., Takeshita, F., Matsuda, M., Coban, C., Ishii, K.J., Kawai, T., Takeuchi, O. and Akira, S. (2005) Interleukin-1 receptor-associated kinase-1 plays an essential role for Toll-like receptor (TLR)7- and TLR9-mediated interferon-{alpha} induction. J Exp Med 201, 915-23.
- [104] Wathelet, M.G., Lin, C.H., Parekh, B.S., Ronco, L.V., Howley, P.M. and Maniatis, T. (1998) Virus infection induces the assembly of coordinately activated transcription factors on the IFN-beta enhancer in vivo. Mol Cell 1, 507-18.
- [105] Malmgaard, L. (2004) Induction and regulation of IFNs during viral infections. J Interferon Cytokine Res 24, 439-54.
- [106] Chu, W.M., Ostertag, D., Li, Z.W., Chang, L., Chen, Y., Hu, Y., Williams, B., Perrault, J. and Karin, M. (1999) JNK2 and IKKbeta are required for activating the innate response to viral infection. Immunity 11, 721-31.
- [107] Platanias, L.C. (2005) Mechanisms of type-I- and type-II-interferon-mediated signalling. Nat Rev Immunol 5, 375-86.
- [108] Taniguchi, T., Ogasawara, K., Takaoka, A. and Tanaka, N. (2001) IRF family of transcription factors as regulators of host defense. Annu Rev Immunol 19, 623-55.
- [109] Taniguchi, T. and Takaoka, A. (2001) A weak signal for strong responses: interferonalpha/beta revisited. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2, 378-86.
- [110] Sato, M., Taniguchi, T. and Tanaka, N. (2001) The interferon system and interferon regulatory factor transcription factors -- studies from gene knockout mice. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 12, 133-42.
- [111] Lohoff, M. and Mak, T.W. (2005) Roles of interferon-regulatory factors in T-helpercell differentiation. Nat Rev Immunol 5, 125-35.
- [112] Sato, M., Suemori, H., Hata, N., Asagiri, M., Ogasawara, K., Nakao, K., Nakaya, T., Katsuki, M., Noguchi, S., Tanaka, N. and Taniguchi, T. (2000) Distinct and essential roles of transcription factors IRF-3 and IRF-7 in response to viruses for IFNalpha/beta gene induction. Immunity 13, 539-48.
- [113] Levy, D.E., Marie, I., Smith, E. and Prakash, A. (2002) Enhancement and diversification of IFN induction by IRF-7-mediated positive feedback. J Interferon Cytokine Res 22, 87-93.
- [114] Marie, I., Smith, E., Prakash, A. and Levy, D.E. (2000) Phosphorylation-induced dimerization of interferon regulatory factor 7 unmasks DNA binding and a bipartite transactivation domain. Mol Cell Biol 20, 8803-14.
- [115] Sato, M., Hata, N., Asagiri, M., Nakaya, T., Taniguchi, T. and Tanaka, N. (1998) Positive feedback regulation of type I IFN genes by the IFN-inducible transcription factor IRF-7. FEBS Lett 441, 106-10.

- [116] Fitzgerald, K.A., McWhirter, S.M., Faia, K.L., Rowe, D.C., Latz, E., Golenbock, D.T., Coyle, A.J., Liao, S.M. and Maniatis, T. (2003) IKKepsilon and TBK1 are essential components of the IRF3 signaling pathway. Nat Immunol 4, 491-6.
- [117] Sharma, S., tenOever, B.R., Grandvaux, N., Zhou, G.P., Lin, R. and Hiscott, J. (2003) Triggering the interferon antiviral response through an IKK-related pathway. Science 300, 1148-51.
- [118] Marie, I., Durbin, J.E. and Levy, D.E. (1998) Differential viral induction of distinct interferon-alpha genes by positive feedback through interferon regulatory factor-7. Embo J 17, 6660-9.
- [119] Lin, R., Mamane, Y. and Hiscott, J. (2000) Multiple regulatory domains control IRF-7 activity in response to virus infection. J Biol Chem 275, 34320-7.
- [120] Honda, K., Yanai, H., Negishi, H., Asagiri, M., Sato, M., Mizutani, T., Shimada, N., Ohba, Y., Takaoka, A., Yoshida, N. and Taniguchi, T. (2005) IRF-7 is the master regulator of type-I interferon-dependent immune responses. Nature 434, 772-7.
- [121] Colina, R., Costa-Mattioli, M., Dowling, R.J., Jaramillo, M., Tai, L.H., Breitbach, C.J., Martineau, Y., Larsson, O., Rong, L., Svitkin, Y.V., Makrigiannis, A.P., Bell, J.C. and Sonenberg, N. (2008) Translational control of the innate immune response through IRF-7. Nature.
- [122] Honda, K., Ohba, Y., Yanai, H., Negishi, H., Mizutani, T., Takaoka, A., Taya, C. and Taniguchi, T. (2005) Spatiotemporal regulation of MyD88-IRF-7 signalling for robust type-I interferon induction. Nature 434, 1035-40.
- [123] Harada, H., Taniguchi, T. and Tanaka, N. (1998) The role of interferon regulatory factors in the interferon system and cell growth control. Biochimie 80, 641-50.
- [124] Samuel, C.E., Kuhen, K.L., George, C.X., Ortega, L.G., Rende-Fournier, R. and Tanaka, H. (1997) The PKR protein kinase--an interferon-inducible regulator of cell growth and differentiation. Int J Hematol 65, 227-37.
- [125] Kirchhoff, S., Koromilas, A.E., Schaper, F., Grashoff, M., Sonenberg, N. and Hauser, H. (1995) IRF-1 induced cell growth inhibition and interferon induction requires the activity of the protein kinase PKR. Oncogene 11, 439-45.
- [126] Ogasawara, K., Hida, S., Azimi, N., Tagaya, Y., Sato, T., Yokochi-Fukuda, T., Waldmann, T.A., Taniguchi, T. and Taki, S. (1998) Requirement for IRF-1 in the microenvironment supporting development of natural killer cells. Nature 391, 700-3.
- [127] Taki, S., Sato, T., Ogasawara, K., Fukuda, T., Sato, M., Hida, S., Suzuki, G., Mitsuyama, M., Shin, E.H., Kojima, S., Taniguchi, T. and Asano, Y. (1997) Multistage regulation of Th1-type immune responses by the transcription factor IRF-1. Immunity 6, 673-9.
- [128] Unutmaz, D. and Vilcek, J. (2008) IRF1: a deus ex machina in T(H)1 differentiation. Nat Immunol 9, 9-10.
- [129] Tanaka, N., Ishihara, M., Lamphier, M.S., Nozawa, H., Matsuyama, T., Mak, T.W., Aizawa, S., Tokino, T., Oren, M. and Taniguchi, T. (1996) Cooperation of the tumour suppressors IRF-1 and p53 in response to DNA damage. Nature 382, 816-8.
- [130] Yamamoto, H., Lamphier, M.S., Fujita, T., Taniguchi, T. and Harada, H. (1994) The oncogenic transcription factor IRF-2 possesses a transcriptional repression and a latent activation domain. Oncogene 9, 1423-8.
- [131] Harada, H., Fujita, T., Miyamoto, M., Kimura, Y., Maruyama, M., Furia, A., Miyata, T. and Taniguchi, T. (1989) Structurally similar but functionally distinct factors, IRF-1 and IRF-2, bind to the same regulatory elements of IFN and IFN-inducible genes. Cell 58, 729-39.

- [132] Rengarajan, J., Mowen, K.A., McBride, K.D., Smith, E.D., Singh, H. and Glimcher, L.H. (2002) Interferon regulatory factor 4 (IRF4) interacts with NFATc2 to modulate interleukin 4 gene expression. J Exp Med 195, 1003-12.
- [133] Lohoff, M., Mittrucker, H.W., Prechtl, S., Bischof, S., Sommer, F., Kock, S., Ferrick, D.A., Duncan, G.S., Gessner, A. and Mak, T.W. (2002) Dysregulated T helper cell differentiation in the absence of interferon regulatory factor 4. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99, 11808-12.
- [134] Mittrucker, H.W., Matsuyama, T., Grossman, A., Kundig, T.M., Potter, J., Shahinian, A., Wakeham, A., Patterson, B., Ohashi, P.S. and Mak, T.W. (1997) Requirement for the transcription factor LSIRF/IRF4 for mature B and T lymphocyte function. Science 275, 540-3.
- [135] Lu, R., Medina, K.L., Lancki, D.W. and Singh, H. (2003) IRF-4,8 orchestrate the pre-B-to-B transition in lymphocyte development. Genes Dev 17, 1703-8.
- [136] Tamura, T., Tailor, P., Yamaoka, K., Kong, H.J., Tsujimura, H., O'Shea, J.J., Singh, H. and Ozato, K. (2005) IFN regulatory factor-4 and -8 govern dendritic cell subset development and their functional diversity. J Immunol 174, 2573-81.
- [137] Tailor, P., Tamura, T. and Ozato, K. (2006) IRF family proteins and type I interferon induction in dendritic cells. Cell Res 16, 134-40.
- [138] Takaoka, A., Yanai, H., Kondo, S., Duncan, G., Negishi, H., Mizutani, T., Kano, S., Honda, K., Ohba, Y., Mak, T.W. and Taniguchi, T. (2005) Integral role of IRF-5 in the gene induction programme activated by Toll-like receptors. Nature 434, 243-9.
- [139] Richardson, R.J., Dixon, J., Malhotra, S., Hardman, M.J., Knowles, L., Boot-Handford, R.P., Shore, P., Whitmarsh, A. and Dixon, M.J. (2006) Irf6 is a key determinant of the keratinocyte proliferation-differentiation switch. Nat Genet 38, 1329-34.
- [140] Tamura, T. and Ozato, K. (2002) ICSBP/IRF-8: its regulatory roles in the development of myeloid cells. J Interferon Cytokine Res 22, 145-52.
- [141] Tailor, P., Tamura, T., Kong, H.J., Kubota, T., Kubota, M., Borghi, P., Gabriele, L. and Ozato, K. (2007) The feedback phase of type I interferon induction in dendritic cells requires interferon regulatory factor 8. Immunity 27, 228-39.
- [142] Aliberti, J., Schulz, O., Pennington, D.J., Tsujimura, H., Reis e Sousa, C., Ozato, K. and Sher, A. (2003) Essential role for ICSBP in the in vivo development of murine CD8alpha + dendritic cells. Blood 101, 305-10.
- [143] Schiavoni, G., Mattei, F., Sestili, P., Borghi, P., Venditti, M., Morse, H.C., 3rd, Belardelli, F. and Gabriele, L. (2002) ICSBP is essential for the development of mouse type I interferon-producing cells and for the generation and activation of CD8alpha(+) dendritic cells. J Exp Med 196, 1415-25.
- [144] Tsujimura, H., Tamura, T. and Ozato, K. (2003) Cutting edge: IFN consensus sequence binding protein/IFN regulatory factor 8 drives the development of type I IFN-producing plasmacytoid dendritic cells. J Immunol 170, 1131-5.
- [145] Tsujimura, H., Tamura, T., Gongora, C., Aliberti, J., Reis e Sousa, C., Sher, A. and Ozato, K. (2003) ICSBP/IRF-8 retrovirus transduction rescues dendritic cell development in vitro. Blood 101, 961-9.
- [146] Fehr, T., Schoedon, G., Odermatt, B., Holtschke, T., Schneemann, M., Bachmann, M.F., Mak, T.W., Horak, I. and Zinkernagel, R.M. (1997) Crucial role of interferon consensus sequence binding protein, but neither of interferon regulatory factor 1 nor of nitric oxide synthesis for protection against murine listeriosis. J Exp Med 185, 921-31.
- [147] Giese, N.A., Gabriele, L., Doherty, T.M., Klinman, D.M., Tadesse-Heath, L., Contursi, C., Epstein, S.L. and Morse, H.C., 3rd (1997) Interferon (IFN) consensus sequencebinding protein, a transcription factor of the IFN regulatory factor family, regulates

immune responses in vivo through control of interleukin 12 expression. J Exp Med 186, 1535-46.

- [148] Scharton-Kersten, T., Contursi, C., Masumi, A., Sher, A. and Ozato, K. (1997) Interferon consensus sequence binding protein-deficient mice display impaired resistance to intracellular infection due to a primary defect in interleukin 12 p40 induction. J Exp Med 186, 1523-34.
- [149] Harada, H., Matsumoto, M., Sato, M., Kashiwazaki, Y., Kimura, T., Kitagawa, M., Yokochi, T., Tan, R.S., Takasugi, T., Kadokawa, Y., Schindler, C., Schreiber, R.D., Noguchi, S. and Taniguchi, T. (1996) Regulation of IFN-alpha/beta genes: evidence for a dual function of the transcription factor complex ISGF3 in the production and action of IFN-alpha/beta. Genes Cells 1, 995-1005.
- [150] Gilmore, T.D. (2006) Introduction to NF-kappaB: players, pathways, perspectives. Oncogene 25, 6680-4.
- [151] Hayden, M.S., West, A.P. and Ghosh, S. (2006) NF-kappaB and the immune response. Oncogene 25, 6758-80.
- [152] Kawai, T. and Akira, S. (2007) Signaling to NF-kappaB by Toll-like receptors. Trends Mol Med 13, 460-9.
- [153] Stark, G.R., Kerr, I.M., Williams, B.R., Silverman, R.H. and Schreiber, R.D. (1998) How cells respond to interferons. Annu Rev Biochem 67, 227-64.
- [154] Muller, U., Steinhoff, U., Reis, L.F., Hemmi, S., Pavlovic, J., Zinkernagel, R.M. and Aguet, M. (1994) Functional role of type I and type II interferons in antiviral defense. Science 264, 1918-21.
- [155] Au, W.C., Moore, P.A., Lowther, W., Juang, Y.T. and Pitha, P.M. (1995) Identification of a member of the interferon regulatory factor family that binds to the interferon-stimulated response element and activates expression of interferon-induced genes. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 92, 11657-61.
- [156] Weaver, B.K., Kumar, K.P. and Reich, N.C. (1998) Interferon regulatory factor 3 and CREB-binding protein/p300 are subunits of double-stranded RNA-activated transcription factor DRAF1. Mol Cell Biol 18, 1359-68.
- [157] Wathelet, M.G., Clauss, I.M., Nols, C.B., Content, J. and Huez, G.A. (1987) New inducers revealed by the promoter sequence analysis of two interferon-activated human genes. Eur J Biochem 169, 313-21.
- [158] Daly, C. and Reich, N.C. (1995) Characterization of specific DNA-binding factors activated by double-stranded RNA as positive regulators of interferon alpha/beta-stimulated genes. J Biol Chem 270, 23739-46.
- [159] Collins, S.E., Noyce, R.S. and Mossman, K.L. (2004) Innate cellular response to virus particle entry requires IRF3 but not virus replication. J Virol 78, 1706-17.
- [160] Noyce, R.S., Collins, S.E. and Mossman, K.L. (2006) Identification of a novel pathway essential for the immediate-early, interferon-independent antiviral response to enveloped virions. J Virol 80, 226-35.
- [161] Paladino, P., Cummings, D.T., Noyce, R.S. and Mossman, K.L. (2006) The IFNindependent response to virus particle entry provides a first line of antiviral defense that is independent of TLRs and retinoic acid-inducible gene I. J Immunol 177, 8008-16.
- [162] de Veer, M.J., Holko, M., Frevel, M., Walker, E., Der, S., Paranjape, J.M., Silverman, R.H. and Williams, B.R. (2001) Functional classification of interferon-stimulated genes identified using microarrays. J Leukoc Biol 69, 912-20.
- [163] Pavlovic, J., Schroder, A., Blank, A., Pitossi, F. and Staeheli, P. (1993) Mx proteins: GTPases involved in the interferon-induced antiviral state. Ciba Found Symp 176, 233-43; discussion 243-7.

- [164] Staeheli, P., Pitossi, F. and Pavlovic, J. (1993) Mx proteins: GTPases with antiviral activity. Trends Cell Biol 3, 268-72.
- [165] Lindenmann, J. (1962) Resistance of mice to mouse-adapted influenza A virus. Virology 16, 203-4.
- [166] Lindenmann, J. (1964) Inheritance of Resistance to Influenza Virus in Mice. Proc Soc Exp Biol Med 116, 506-9.
- [167] Lindenmann, J., Lane, C.A. and Hobson, D. (1963) The Resistance of A2g Mice to Myxoviruses. J Immunol 90, 942-51.
- [168] Aebi, M., Fah, J., Hurt, N., Samuel, C.E., Thomis, D., Bazzigher, L., Pavlovic, J., Haller, O. and Staeheli, P. (1989) cDNA structures and regulation of two interferoninduced human Mx proteins. Mol Cell Biol 9, 5062-72.
- [169] Haller, O., Frese, M. and Kochs, G. (1998) Mx proteins: mediators of innate resistance to RNA viruses. Rev Sci Tech 17, 220-30.
- [170] Weber, F., Haller, O. and Kochs, G. (2000) MxA GTPase blocks reporter gene expression of reconstituted Thogoto virus ribonucleoprotein complexes. J Virol 74, 560-3.
- [171] King, M.C., Raposo, G. and Lemmon, M.A. (2004) Inhibition of nuclear import and cell-cycle progression by mutated forms of the dynamin-like GTPase MxB. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 101, 8957-62.
- [172] Melen, K. and Julkunen, I. (1997) Nuclear cotransport mechanism of cytoplasmic human MxB protein. J Biol Chem 272, 32353-9.
- [173] Melen, K., Keskinen, P., Ronni, T., Sareneva, T., Lounatmaa, K. and Julkunen, I. (1996) Human MxB protein, an interferon-alpha-inducible GTPase, contains a nuclear targeting signal and is localized in the heterochromatin region beneath the nuclear envelope. J Biol Chem 271, 23478-86.
- [174] Arnheiter, H., Frese, M., Kambadur, R., Meier, E. and Haller, O. (1996) Mx transgenic mice--animal models of health. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 206, 119-47.
- [175] Staeheli, P., Haller, O., Boll, W., Lindenmann, J. and Weissmann, C. (1986) Mx protein: constitutive expression in 3T3 cells transformed with cloned Mx cDNA confers selective resistance to influenza virus. Cell 44, 147-58.
- [176] Jin, H.K., Takada, A., Kon, Y., Haller, O. and Watanabe, T. (1999) Identification of the murine Mx2 gene: interferon-induced expression of the Mx2 protein from the feral mouse gene confers resistance to vesicular stomatitis virus. J Virol 73, 4925-30.
- [177] Haller, O. and Kochs, G. (2002) Interferon-induced mx proteins: dynamin-like GTPases with antiviral activity. Traffic 3, 710-7.
- [178] Pitossi, F., Blank, A., Schroder, A., Schwarz, A., Hussi, P., Schwemmle, M., Pavlovic, J. and Staeheli, P. (1993) A functional GTP-binding motif is necessary for antiviral activity of Mx proteins. J Virol 67, 6726-32.
- [179] Janzen, C., Kochs, G. and Haller, O. (2000) A monomeric GTPase-negative MxA mutant with antiviral activity. J Virol 74, 8202-6.
- [180] Kochs, G. and Haller, O. (1999) GTP-bound human MxA protein interacts with the nucleocapsids of Thogoto virus (Orthomyxoviridae). J Biol Chem 274, 4370-6.
- [181] Kochs, G. and Haller, O. (1999) Interferon-induced human MxA GTPase blocks nuclear import of Thogoto virus nucleocapsids. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96, 2082-6.
- [182] Kochs, G., Janzen, C., Hohenberg, H. and Haller, O. (2002) Antivirally active MxA protein sequesters La Crosse virus nucleocapsid protein into perinuclear complexes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99, 3153-8.
- [183] Blomstrom, D.C., Fahey, D., Kutny, R., Korant, B.D. and Knight, E., Jr. (1986) Molecular characterization of the interferon-induced 15-kDa protein. Molecular cloning and nucleotide and amino acid sequence. J Biol Chem 261, 8811-6.

- [184] Farrell, P.J., Broeze, R.J. and Lengyel, P. (1979) Accumulation of an mRNA and protein in interferon-treated Ehrlich ascites tumour cells. Nature 279, 523-5.
- [185] Haas, A.L., Ahrens, P., Bright, P.M. and Ankel, H. (1987) Interferon induces a 15kilodalton protein exhibiting marked homology to ubiquitin. J Biol Chem 262, 11315-23.
- [186] Reich, N., Evans, B., Levy, D., Fahey, D., Knight, E., Jr. and Darnell, J.E., Jr. (1987) Interferon-induced transcription of a gene encoding a 15-kDa protein depends on an upstream enhancer element. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 84, 6394-8.
- [187] Hochstrasser, M. (2000) Evolution and function of ubiquitin-like protein-conjugation systems. Nat Cell Biol 2, E153-7.
- [188] Knight, E., Jr., Fahey, D., Cordova, B., Hillman, M., Kutny, R., Reich, N. and Blomstrom, D. (1988) A 15-kDa interferon-induced protein is derived by COOHterminal processing of a 17-kDa precursor. J Biol Chem 263, 4520-2.
- [189] Potter, J.L., Narasimhan, J., Mende-Mueller, L. and Haas, A.L. (1999) Precursor processing of pro-ISG15/UCRP, an interferon-beta-induced ubiquitin-like protein. J Biol Chem 274, 25061-8.
- [190] Giannakopoulos, N.V., Luo, J.K., Papov, V., Zou, W., Lenschow, D.J., Jacobs, B.S., Borden, E.C., Li, J., Virgin, H.W. and Zhang, D.E. (2005) Proteomic identification of proteins conjugated to ISG15 in mouse and human cells. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 336, 496-506.
- [191] Zhao, C., Denison, C., Huibregtse, J.M., Gygi, S. and Krug, R.M. (2005) Human ISG15 conjugation targets both IFN-induced and constitutively expressed proteins functioning in diverse cellular pathways. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102, 10200-5.
- [192] Malakhov, M.P., Kim, K.I., Malakhova, O.A., Jacobs, B.S., Borden, E.C. and Zhang, D.E. (2003) High-throughput immunoblotting. Ubiquitiin-like protein ISG15 modifies key regulators of signal transduction. J Biol Chem 278, 16608-13.
- [193] Der, S.D., Zhou, A., Williams, B.R. and Silverman, R.H. (1998) Identification of genes differentially regulated by interferon alpha, beta, or gamma using oligonucleotide arrays. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 95, 15623-8.
- [194] Memet, S., Besancon, F., Bourgeade, M.F. and Thang, M.N. (1991) Direct induction of interferon-gamma- and interferon-alpha/beta-inducible genes by double-stranded RNA. J Interferon Res 11, 131-41.
- [195] Kim, K.I. and Zhang, D.E. (2003) ISG15, not just another ubiquitin-like protein. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 307, 431-4.
- [196] Lu, G., Reinert, J.T., Pitha-Rowe, I., Okumura, A., Kellum, M., Knobeloch, K.P., Hassel, B. and Pitha, P.M. (2006) ISG15 enhances the innate antiviral response by inhibition of IRF-3 degradation. Cell Mol Biol (Noisy-le-grand) 52, 29-41.
- [197] Osiak, A., Utermohlen, O., Niendorf, S., Horak, I. and Knobeloch, K.P. (2005) ISG15, an interferon-stimulated ubiquitin-like protein, is not essential for STAT1 signaling and responses against vesicular stomatitis and lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus. Mol Cell Biol 25, 6338-45.
- [198] Gendelman, H.E., Baca, L.M., Turpin, J., Kalter, D.C., Hansen, B., Orenstein, J.M., Dieffenbach, C.W., Friedman, R.M. and Meltzer, M.S. (1990) Regulation of HIV replication in infected monocytes by IFN-alpha. Mechanisms for viral restriction. J Immunol 145, 2669-76.
- [199] Kunzi, M. and Pitha, P. (1996) Role of interferon-stimulated gene ISG-15 in the interferon-omega-mediated inhibition of human immunodeficiency virus replication. J Interferon Cytokine Res. 1996 Nov;16(11):919-27. 16, 919-27.
- [200] Popik, W. and Pitha, P.M. (2000) Exploitation of cellular signaling by HIV-1: unwelcome guests with master keys that signal their entry. Virology 276, 1-6.

- [201] Okumura, A., Lu, G., Pitha-Rowe, I. and Pitha, P.M. (2006) Innate antiviral response targets HIV-1 release by the induction of ubiquitin-like protein ISG15. PNAS 103, 1440-1445.
- [202] Yuan, W. and Krug, R.M. (2001) Influenza B virus NS1 protein inhibits conjugation of the interferon (IFN)-induced ubiquitin-like ISG15 protein. Embo J 20, 362-71.
- [203] Dey, M., Cao, C., Dar, A.C., Tamura, T., Ozato, K., Sicheri, F. and Dever, T.E. (2005) Mechanistic link between PKR dimerization, autophosphorylation, and eIF2alpha substrate recognition. Cell 122, 901-13.
- [204] Galabru, J. and Hovanessian, A. (1987) Autophosphorylation of the protein kinase dependent on double-stranded RNA. J Biol Chem 262, 15538-44.
- [205] Galabru, J. and Hovanessian, A.G. (1985) Two interferon-induced proteins are involved in the protein kinase complex dependent on double-stranded RNA. Cell 43, 685-94.
- [206] Gale, M., Jr. and Katze, M.G. (1998) Molecular mechanisms of interferon resistance mediated by viral-directed inhibition of PKR, the interferon-induced protein kinase. Pharmacol Ther 78, 29-46.
- [207] Black, T.L., Safer, B., Hovanessian, A. and Katze, M.G. (1989) The cellular 68,000-Mr protein kinase is highly autophosphorylated and activated yet significantly degraded during poliovirus infection: implications for translational regulation. J Virol 63, 2244-51.
- [208] Lee, T.G., Tomita, J., Hovanessian, A.G. and Katze, M.G. (1990) Purification and partial characterization of a cellular inhibitor of the interferon-induced protein kinase of Mr 68,000 from influenza virus-infected cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 87, 6208-12.
- [209] Roy, S., Agy, M., Hovanessian, A.G., Sonenberg, N. and Katze, M.G. (1991) The integrity of the stem structure of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Tat-responsive sequence of RNA is required for interaction with the interferon-induced 68,000-Mr protein kinase. J Virol 65, 632-40.
- [210] Roy, S., Katze, M.G., Parkin, N.T., Edery, I., Hovanessian, A.G. and Sonenberg, N. (1990) Control of the interferon-induced 68-kilodalton protein kinase by the HIV-1 tat gene product. Science 247, 1216-9.
- [211] Hovanessian, A.G. and Justesen, J. (2007) The human 2'-5'oligoadenylate synthetase family: unique interferon-inducible enzymes catalyzing 2'-5' instead of 3'-5' phosphodiester bond formation. Biochimie 89, 779-88.
- [212] Silverman, R.H. (2007) A scientific journey through the 2-5A/RNase L system. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 18, 381-8.
- [213] Flodstrom-Tullberg, M., Hultcrantz, M., Stotland, A., Maday, A., Tsai, D., Fine, C., Williams, B., Silverman, R. and Sarvetnick, N. (2005) RNase L and double-stranded RNA-dependent protein kinase exert complementary roles in islet cell defense during coxsackievirus infection. J Immunol 174, 1171-7.
- [214] Samuel, M.A., Whitby, K., Keller, B.C., Marri, A., Barchet, W., Williams, B.R., Silverman, R.H., Gale, M., Jr. and Diamond, M.S. (2006) PKR and RNase L contribute to protection against lethal West Nile Virus infection by controlling early viral spread in the periphery and replication in neurons. J Virol 80, 7009-19.
- [215] Zheng, X., Silverman, R.H., Zhou, A., Goto, T., Kwon, B.S., Kaufman, H.E. and Hill, J.M. (2001) Increased severity of HSV-1 keratitis and mortality in mice lacking the 2-5A-dependent RNase L gene. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 42, 120-6.
- [216] Zhou, A., Paranjape, J., Brown, T.L., Nie, H., Naik, S., Dong, B., Chang, A., Trapp, B., Fairchild, R., Colmenares, C. and Silverman, R.H. (1997) Interferon action and

apoptosis are defective in mice devoid of 2',5'-oligoadenylate-dependent RNase L. Embo J 16, 6355-63.

- [217] Haller, O., Kochs, G. and Weber, F. (2006) The interferon response circuit: Induction and suppression by pathogenic viruses. Virology 344, 119-130.
- [218] Pavlovic, J., Haller, O. and Staeheli, P. (1992) Human and mouse Mx proteins inhibit different steps of the influenza virus multiplication cycle. J Virol 66, 2564-9.
- [219] Pavlovic, J., Zurcher, T., Haller, O. and Staeheli, P. (1990) Resistance to influenza virus and vesicular stomatitis virus conferred by expression of human MxA protein. J Virol 64, 3370-5.
- [220] Ronni, T., Matikainen, S., Sareneva, T., Melen, K., Pirhonen, J., Keskinen, P. and Julkunen, I. (1997) Regulation of IFN-alpha/beta, MxA, 2',5'-oligoadenylate synthetase, and HLA gene expression in influenza A-infected human lung epithelial cells. J Immunol 158, 2363-74.
- [221] Hatada, E. and Fukuda, R. (1992) Binding of influenza A virus NS1 protein to dsRNA in vitro. J Gen Virol 73 (Pt 12), 3325-9.
- [222] Bergmann, M., Garcia-Sastre, A., Carnero, E., Pehamberger, H., Wolff, K., Palese, P. and Muster, T. (2000) Influenza virus NS1 protein counteracts PKR-mediated inhibition of replication. J Virol 74, 6203-6.
- [223] Lu, Y., Wambach, M., Katze, M.G. and Krug, R.M. (1995) Binding of the influenza virus NS1 protein to double-stranded RNA inhibits the activation of the protein kinase that phosphorylates the elF-2 translation initiation factor. Virology 214, 222-8.
- [224] Talon, J., Horvath, C.M., Polley, R., Basler, C.F., Muster, T., Palese, P. and Garcia-Sastre, A. (2000) Activation of interferon regulatory factor 3 is inhibited by the influenza A virus NS1 protein. J Virol 74, 7989-96.
- [225] Wang, X., Li, M., Zheng, H., Muster, T., Palese, P., Beg, A.A. and Garcia-Sastre, A. (2000) Influenza A virus NS1 protein prevents activation of NF-kappaB and induction of alpha/beta interferon. J Virol 74, 11566-73.
- [226] Li, S., Min, J.Y., Krug, R.M. and Sen, G.C. (2006) Binding of the influenza A virus NS1 protein to PKR mediates the inhibition of its activation by either PACT or double-stranded RNA. Virology 349, 13-21.
- [227] Min, J.-Y. and Krug, R.M. (2006) The primary function of RNA binding by the influenza A virus NS1 protein in infected cells: Inhibiting the 2'-5' oligo (A) synthetase/RNase L pathway. PNAS 103, 7100-7105.
- [228] Chen Z, L.Y., and Krug R M (1999) Influenza A virus NS1 protein targets poly(A)binding protein II of the cellular 3'-end processing machinery. EMBO J 18, 2273– 2283.
- [229] Nemeroff, M.E., Barabino, S.M., Li, Y., Keller, W. and Krug, R.M. (1998) Influenza virus NS1 protein interacts with the cellular 30 kDa subunit of CPSF and inhibits 3'end formation of cellular pre-mRNAs. Mol Cell 1, 991-1000.
- [230] Noah, D.L., Twu, K.Y. and Krug, R.M. (2003) Cellular antiviral responses against influenza A virus are countered at the posttranscriptional level by the viral NS1A protein via its binding to a cellular protein required for the 3' end processing of cellular pre-mRNAS. Virology 307, 386-95.
- [231] Mibayashi, M., Martinez-Sobrido, L., Loo, Y.M., Cardenas, W.B., Gale, M., Jr. and Garcia-Sastre, A. (2007) Inhibition of retinoic acid-inducible gene I-mediated induction of beta interferon by the NS1 protein of influenza A virus. J Virol 81, 514-24.
- [232] Opitz, B., Rejaibi, A., Dauber, B., Eckhard, J., Vinzing, M., Schmeck, B., Hippenstiel, S., Suttorp, N. and Wolff, T. (2007) IFNbeta induction by influenza A virus is

mediated by RIG-I which is regulated by the viral NS1 protein. Cell Microbiol 9, 930-8.

- [233] Altmann, S.M., Mellon, M.T., Distel, D.L. and Kim, C.H. (2003) Molecular and Functional Analysis of an Interferon Gene from the Zebrafish, Danio rerio. J. Virol. 77, 1992-2002.
- [234] Lutfalla, G., Crollius, H.R., Stange-Thomann, N., Jaillon, O., Mogensen, K. and Monneron, D. (2003) Comparative genomic analysis reveals independent expansion of a lineage-specific gene family in vertebrates: The class II cytokine receptors and their ligands in mammals and fish. BMC Genomics 4, 29.
- [235] Robertsen, B., Bergan, V., Rokenes, T., Larsen, R. and Albuquerque, A. (2003) Atlantic salmon interferon genes: cloning, sequence analysis, expression, and biological activity. J Interferon Cytokine Res 23, 601-12.
- [236] Zou, J., Tafalla, C., Truckle, J. and Secombes, C.J. (2007) Identification of a second group of type I IFNs in fish sheds light on IFN evolution in vertebrates. J Immunol 179, 3859-71.
- [237] Long, S., Wilson, M., Bengten, E., Bryan, L., Clem, L.W., Miller, N.W. and Chinchar, V.G. (2004) Identification of a cDNA encoding channel catfish interferon. Dev Comp Immunol 28, 97-111.
- [238] Milev-Milovanovic, I., Long, S., Wilson, M., Bengten, E., Miller, N.W. and Chinchar, V.G. (2006) Identification and expression analysis of interferon gamma genes in channel catfish. Immunogenetics 58, 70-80.
- [239] Robertsen, B. (2006) The interferon system of teleost fish. Fish Shellfish Immunol 20, 172-91.
- [240] de Kinkelin, P. and Dorson, M. (1973) Interferon production in rainbow trout (Salmo gairdneri) experimentally infected with Egtved virus. J Gen Virol 19, 125-7.
- [241] Dorson, M., Barde, A. and de Kinkelin, P. (1975) Egtved virus induced rainbow trout serum interferon: some physicochemical properties. Ann Microbiol (Paris) 126, 485-9.
- [242] Ellis, A.E. (2001) Innate host defense mechanisms of fish against viruses and bacteria. Dev Comp Immunol 25, 827-39.
- [243] Jensen, I., Albuquerque, A., Sommer, A.-I. and Robertsen, B. (2002) Effect of poly I:C on the expression of Mx proteins and resistance against infection by infectious salmon anaemia virus in Atlantic salmon. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 13, 311-326.
- [244] Jensen, I., Larsen, R. and Robertsen, B. (2002) An antiviral state induced in Chinook salmon embryo cells (CHSE-214) by transfection with the double-stranded RNA poly I:C. Fish Shellfish Immunol 13, 367-78.
- [245] Jensen, I. and Robertsen, B. (2002) Effect of double-stranded RNA and interferon on the antiviral activity of Atlantic salmon cells against infectious salmon anemia virus and infectious pancreatic necrosis virus. Fish & Shellfish Immunology 13, 221-41.
- [246] Nygaard, R., Husgard, S., Sommer, A.I., Leong, J.A. and Robertsen, B. (2000) Induction of Mx protein by interferon and double-stranded RNA in salmonid cells. Fish Shellfish Immunol 10, 435-50.
- [247] Jorgensen, J.B., Johansen, L.H., Steiro, K. and Johansen, A. (2003) CpG DNA induces protective antiviral immune responses in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.). J Virol 77, 11471-9.
- [248] Strandskog, G., Ellingsen, T. and Jorgensen, J.B. (2007) Characterization of three distinct CpG oligonucleotide classes which differ in ability to induce IFN alpha/beta activity and cell proliferation in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.) leukocytes. Dev Comp Immunol 31, 39-51.
- [249] Jorgensen, J.B., Johansen, A., Stenersen, B. and Sommer, A.I. (2001) CpG oligodeoxynucleotides and plasmid DNA stimulate Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar L.)

leucocytes to produce supernatants with antiviral activity. Dev Comp Immunol 25, 313-21.

- [250] Jorgensen, J.B., Zou, J., Johansen, A. and Secombes, C.J. (2001) Immunostimulatory CpG oligodeoxynucleotides stimulate expression of IL-1beta and interferon-like cytokines in rainbow trout macrophages via a chloroquine-sensitive mechanism. Fish Shellfish Immunol 11, 673-82.
- [251] Ooi, E., Verjan, N., Hirono, I., Nochi, T., Kondo, H., Aoki, T., Kiyono, H. and Yuki, Y. (2008) Biological characterisation of a recombinant Atlantic salmon type I interferon synthesized in Escherichia coli. Fish Shellfish Immunol, in press.
- [252] Røkenes, T.P., Larsen, R. and Robertsen, B. (2007) Atlantic salmon ISG15: Expression and conjugation to cellular proteins in response to interferon, doublestranded RNA and virus infections. Mol Immunol 44, 950-9.
- [253] Bergan, V., Steinsvik, S., Xu, H., Kileng, O. and Robertsen, B. (2006) Promoters of type I interferon genes from Atlantic salmon contain two main regulatory regions. Febs J 273, 3893-906.
- [254] Chen, J.Y., You, Y.K., Chen, J.C., Huang, T.C. and Kuo, C.M. (2005) Organization and promoter analysis of the zebrafish (Danio rerio) interferon gene. DNA Cell Biol 24, 641-50.
- [255] Stein, C., Caccamo, M., Laird, G. and Leptin, M. (2007) Conservation and divergence of gene families encoding components of innate immune response systems in zebrafish. Genome Biol 8, R251.
- [256] Chen, J.S., Wang, T.Y., Tzeng, T.D., Wang, C.Y. and Wang, D. (2008) Evidence for positive selection in the TLR9 gene of teleosts. Fish Shellfish Immunol 24, 234-42.
- [257] Li, J., Chen, J., Tan, Z., Liu, H. and Liu, Z. (2007) Expression of TLR9 and its mRNA in the lesions of lichen planus. J Huazhong Univ Sci Technolog Med Sci 27, 203-5.
- [258] Skjaeveland, I., Iliev, D.B., Zou, J., Jorgensen, T. and Jorgensen, J.B. (2007) A TLR9 homolog that is up-regulated by IFN-gamma in Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar). Dev Comp Immunol.
- [259] Collet, B., Hovens, G.C., Mazzoni, D., Hirono, I., Aoki, T. and Secombes, C.J. (2003) Cloning and expression analysis of rainbow trout Oncorhynchus mykiss interferon regulatory factor 1 and 2 (IRF-1 and IRF-2). Dev Comp Immunol 27, 111-26.
- [260] Ordas, M.C., Abollo, E., Costa, M.M., Figueras, A. and Novoa, B. (2006) Molecular cloning and expression analysis of interferon regulatory factor-1 (IRF-1) of turbot and sea bream. Mol Immunol 43, 882-90.
- [261] Shi, Y., Zhang, Y.B., Zhao, Z., Jiang, J., Zhang, Q.Y. and Gui, J.F. (2007) Molecular characterization and subcellular localization of Carassius auratus interferon regulatory factor-1. Dev Comp Immunol.
- [262] Sun, B.J., Chang, M.X., Song, Y., Yao, W.J. and Nie, P. (2007) Gene structure and transcription of IRF-1 and IRF-7 in the mandarin fish Siniperca chuatsi. Vet Immunol Immunopathol 116, 26-36.
- [263] Yabu, T., Hirose, H., Hirono, I., Katagiri, T., Aoki, T. and Yamamoto, E. (1998) Molecular cloning of a novel interferon regulatory factor in Japanese flounder, Paralichthys olivaceus. Mol Mar Biol Biotechnol 7, 138-44.
- [264] Sun, B., Chang, M., Chen, D. and Nie, P. (2006) Gene structure and transcription of IRF-2 in the mandarin fish Siniperca chuatsi with the finding of alternative transcripts and microsatellite in the coding region. Immunogenetics 58, 774-84.
- [265] Zhang, Y.B., Hu, C.Y., Zhang, J., Huang, G.P., Wei, L.H., Zhang, Q.Y. and Gui, J.F. (2003) Molecular cloning and characterization of crucian carp (Carassius auratus L.) interferon regulatory factor 7. Fish Shellfish Immunol 15, 453-66.

- [266] Levraud, J.P., Boudinot, P., Colin, I., Benmansour, A., Peyrieras, N., Herbomel, P. and Lutfalla, G. (2007) Identification of the zebrafish IFN receptor: implications for the origin of the vertebrate IFN system. J Immunol 178, 4385-94.
- [267] Leu, J.H., Chang, M.S., Yao, C.W., Chou, C.K., Chen, S.T. and Huang, C.J. (1998) Genomic organization and characterization of the promoter region of the roundspotted pufferfish (Tetraodon fluviatilis) JAK1 kinase gene. Biochim Biophys Acta 1395, 50-6.
- [268] Leu, J.H., Yan, S.J., Lee, T.F., Chou, C.M., Chen, S.T., Hwang, P.P., Chou, C.K. and Huang, C.J. (2000) Complete genomic organization and promoter analysis of the round-spotted pufferfish JAK1, JAK2, JAK3, and TYK2 genes. DNA Cell Biol 19, 431-46.
- [269] Zhang, Y. and Gui, J. (2004) Molecular characterization and IFN signal pathway analysis of Carassius auratus CaSTAT1 identified from the cultured cells in response to virus infection. Dev Comp Immunol 28, 211-27.
- [270] Oates, A.C., Wollberg, P., Pratt, S.J., Paw, B.H., Johnson, S.L., Ho, R.K., Postlethwait, J.H., Zon, L.I. and Wilks, A.F. (1999) Zebrafish stat3 is expressed in restricted tissues during embryogenesis and stat1 rescues cytokine signaling in a STAT1-deficient human cell line. Dev Dyn 215, 352-70.
- [271] Altmann, S.M., Mellon, M.T., Johnson, M.C., Paw, B.H., Trede, N.S., Zon, L.I. and Kim, C.H. (2004) Cloning and characterization of an Mx gene and its corresponding promoter from the zebrafish, *Danio rerio*. Dev Comp Immunol 28, 295-306.
- [272] Jensen, V. and Robertsen, B. (2000) Cloning of an Mx cDNA from Atlantic halibut (*Hippoglossus hippoglossus*) and characterization of Mx mRNA expression in response to double-stranded RNA or infectious pancreatic necrosis virus. J Interferon Cytokine Res 20, 701-10.
- [273] Lee, J.Y., Hirono, I. and Aoki, T. (2000) Cloning and analysis of expression of Mx cDNA in Japanese flounder, Paralichthys olivaceus. Dev Comp Immunol 24, 407-15.
- [274] Plant, K.P. and Thune, R.L. (2003) Cloning and characterization of a channel catfish (*Ictalurus punctatus*) Mx gene. Fish Shellfish Immunol 16, 391-405.
- [275] Robertsen, B., Trobridge, G. and Leong, J.A. (1997) Molecular cloning of doublestranded RNA inducible Mx genes from Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar* L.). Dev Comp Immunol 21, 397-412.
- [276] Tafalla, C., Aranguren, R., Secombes, C.J., A., F. and Novoa, B. (2004) Cloning and analysis of expression of a giltead sea bream (*Sparus aurata*) Mx cDNA. Fish Shellfish Immunol 16, 11-24.
- [277] Trobridge, G.D. and Leong, J.A.C. (1995) Characterization of a rainbow trout Mx gene. J Interferon Cytokine Res 15, 691-702.
- [278] Staeheli, P., Yu, Y.X., Grob, R. and Haller, O. (1989) A double-stranded RNAinducible fish gene homologous to the murine influenza virus resistance gene Mx. Mol Cell Biol 9, 3117-21.
- [279] Caipang, C.M., Hirono, I. and Aoki, T. (2003) In vitro inhibition of fish rhabdoviruses by Japanese flounder, *Paralichthys olivaceus* Mx. Virology 317, 373-82.
- [280] Larsen, R., Rokenes, T.P. and Robertsen, B. (2004) Inhibition of infectious pancreatic necrosis virus replication by atlantic salmon Mx1 protein. J Virol 78, 7938-44.
- [281] Lin, C.H., Christopher John, J.A., Lin, C.H. and Chang, C.Y. (2006) Inhibition of nervous necrosis virus propagation by fish Mx proteins. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 351, 534-9.
- [282] Saint-Jean, S.R. and Perez-Prieto, S.I. (2007) Effects of salmonid fish viruses on Mx gene expression and resistance to single or dual viral infections. Fish Shellfish Immunol 23, 390-400.
- [283] Liu, M., Reimschuessel, R. and Hassel, B.A. (2002) Molecular cloning of the fish interferon stimulated gene, 15 kDa (ISG15) orthologue: a ubiquitin-like gene induced by nephrotoxic damage. Gene 298, 129-39.
- [284] Seppola, M., Stenvik, J., Steiro, K., Solstad, T., Robertsen, B. and Jensen, I. (2007) Sequence and expression analysis of an interferon stimulated gene (ISG15) from Atlantic cod (Gadus morhua L.). Dev Comp Immunol 31, 156-71.
- [285] Zhang, Y.B., Wang, Y.L. and Gui, J.F. (2007) Identification and characterization of two homologues of interferon-stimulated gene ISG15 in crucian carp. Fish Shellfish Immunol 23, 52-61.
- [286] Falk, K., Namork, E., Rimstad, E., Mjaaland, S. and Dannevig, B. (1997) Characterization of infectious salmon anemia virus, an orthomyxo-like virus isolated from Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar L.*). J. Virol. 71, 9016-9023.
- [287] Krossoy, B., Hordvik, I., Nilsen, F., Nylund, A. and Endresen, C. (1999) The putative polymerase sequence of infectious salmon anemia virus suggests a new genus within the Orthomyxoviridae. J. Virol. 73, 2136-2142.
- [288] Mjaaland, S., Rimstad, E., Falk, K. and Dannevig, B.H. (1997) Genomic characterization of the virus causing infectious salmon anemia in Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar L.*): an orthomyxo-like virus in a teleost. J Virol 71, 7681-6.
- [289] Devold, M., Krossoy, B., Aspehaug, V. and Nylund, A. (2000) Use of RT-PCR for diagnosis of infectious salmon anaemia virus (ISAV) in carrier sea trout Salmo trutta after experimental infection. Dis Aquat Organ 40, 9-18.
- [290] Kibenge, F.S., Garate, O.N., Johnson, G., Arriagada, R., Kibenge, M.J. and Wadowska, D. (2001) Isolation and identification of infectious salmon anaemia virus (ISAV) from Coho salmon in Chile. Dis Aquat Organ 45, 9-18.
- [291] Kibenge, F.S., Munir, K., Kibenge, M.J., Joseph, T. and Moneke, E. (2004) Infectious salmon anemia virus: causative agent, pathogenesis and immunity. Anim Health Res Rev 5, 65-78.
- [292] MacWilliams, C., Johnson, G., Groman, D. and Kibenge, F.S. (2007) Morphologic description of infectious salmon anaemia virus (ISAV)-induced lesions in rainbow trout Oncorhynchus mykiss compared to Atlantic salmon Salmo salar. Dis Aquat Organ 78, 1-12.
- [293] Nylund, A., Plarre, H., Karlsen, M., Fridell, F., Ottem, K.F., Bratland, A. and Saether, P.A. (2007) Transmission of infectious salmon anaemia virus (ISAV) in farmed populations of Atlantic salmon (Salmo salar). Arch Virol 152, 151-79.
- [294] Kibenge, F.S., Kibenge, M.J., Wang, Y., Qian, B., Hariharan, S. and McGeachy, S. (2007) Mapping of putative virulence motifs on infectious salmon anemia virus surface glycoprotein genes. J Gen Virol 88, 3100-11.
- [295] Markussen, T., Jonassen, C.M., Numanovic, S., Braaen, S., Hjortaas, M., Nilsen, H. and Mjaaland, S. (2008) Evolutionary mechanisms involved in the virulence of infectious salmon anaemia virus (ISAV), a piscine orthomyxovirus. Virology.
- [296] Clouthier, S.C., Rector, T., Brown, N.E. and Anderson, E.D. (2002) Genomic organization of infectious salmon anaemia virus. J Gen Virol 83, 421-8.
- [297] Falk, K., Aspehaug, V., Vlasak, R. and Endresen, C. (2004) Identification and Characterization of Viral Structural Proteins of Infectious Salmon Anemia Virus. J. Virol. 78, 3063-3071.
- [298] Biering, E., Falk, K., Hoel, E., Thevarajan, J., Joerink, M., Nylund, A., Endresen, C. and Krossoyl, B. (2002) Segment 8 encodes a structural protein of infectious salmon anaemia virus (ISAV); the co-linear transcript from Segment 7 probably encodes a non-structural or minor structural protein. Dis Aquat Org 49, 117-22.

- [299] Kibenge, F.S., Xu, H., Kibenge, M.J., Qian, B. and Joseph, T. (2007) Characterization of gene expression on genomic segment 7 of infectious salmon anaemia virus. Virol J 4, 34.
- [300] Ritchie, R.J., Bardiot, A., Melville, K., Griffiths, S., Cunningham, C.O. and Snow, M. (2002) Identification and characterisation of the genomic segment 7 of the infectious salmon anaemia virus genome. Virus Res. 84, 161-170.
- [301] McBeath, A.J.A., Collet, B., Paley, R., Duraffour, S., Aspehaug, V., Biering, E., Secombes, C.J. and Snow, M. (2006) Identification of an interferon antagonist protein encoded by segment 7 of infectious salmon anaemia virus. Virus Res 115, 176-184.
- [302] Rodriguez, M.F., Wiens, G.D., Purcell, M.K. and Palti, Y. (2005) Characterization of Toll-like receptor 3 gene in rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). Immunogenetics 57, 510-9.
- [303] Fan, S., Chen, S., Liu, Y., Lin, Y., Liu, H., Guo, L., Lin, B., Huang, S. and Xu, A. (2008) Zebrafish TRIF, a Golgi-Localized Protein, Participates in IFN Induction and NF-{kappa}B Activation. J Immunol 180, 5373-5383.
- [304] Liu, Y.J. (2005) IPC: professional type 1 interferon-producing cells and plasmacytoid dendritic cell precursors. Annu Rev Immunol 23, 275-306.
- [305] Lovy, J., Becker, J.A., Speare, D.J., Wadowska, D.W., Wright, G.M. and Powell, M.D. (2007) Ultrastructural examination of the host cellular response in the gills of Atlantic salmon, Salmo salar, with amoebic gill disease. Vet Pathol 44, 663-71.
- [306] Lovy, J., Wright, G.M. and Speare, D.J. (2006) Morphological presentation of a dendritic-like cell within the gills of chinook salmon infected with Loma salmonae. Dev Comp Immunol 30, 259-63.
- [307] Lovy, J., Wright, G.M. and Speare, D.J. (2008) Comparative Cellular Morphology Suggesting the Existence of Resident Dendritic Cells Within Immune Organs of Salmonids. Anat Rec (Hoboken).
- [308] Ohta, Y., Landis, E., Boulay, T., Phillips, R.B., Collet, B., Secombes, C.J., Flajnik, M.F. and Hansen, J.D. (2004) Homologs of CD83 from elasmobranch and teleost fish. J Immunol 173, 4553-60.
- [309] Jault, C., Pichon, L. and Chluba, J. (2004) Toll-like receptor gene family and TIRdomain adapters in Danio rerio. Mol Immunol 40, 759-71.
- [310] Meijer, A.H., Gabby Krens, S.F., Medina Rodriguez, I.A., He, S., Bitter, W., Ewa Snaar-Jagalska, B. and Spaink, H.P. (2004) Expression analysis of the Toll-like receptor and TIR domain adaptor families of zebrafish. Mol Immunol 40, 773-83.
- [311] Purcell, M.K., Smith, K.D., Hood, L., Winton, J.R. and Roach, J.C. (2006) Conservation of Toll-Like Receptor Signaling Pathways in Teleost Fish. Comp Biochem Physiol Part D Genomics Proteomics 1, 77-88.
- [312] Takaoka, A., Mitani, Y., Suemori, H., Sato, M., Yokochi, T., Noguchi, S., Tanaka, N. and Taniguchi, T. (2000) Cross talk between interferon-gamma and -alpha/beta signaling components in caveolar membrane domains. Science 288, 2357-60.
- [313] Kochs, G., Garcia-Sastre, A. and Martinez-Sobrido, L. (2007) Multiple anti-interferon actions of the influenza A virus NS1 protein. J Virol 81, 7011-21.
- [314] Donelan, N.R., Dauber, B., Wang, X., Basler, C.F., Wolff, T. and Garcia-Sastre, A. (2004) The N- and C-terminal domains of the NS1 protein of influenza B virus can independently inhibit IRF-3 and beta interferon promoter activation. J Virol 78, 11574-82.
- [315] Jennings, S., Martinez-Sobrido, L., Garcia-Sastre, A., Weber, F. and Kochs, G. (2005) Thogoto virus ML protein suppresses IRF3 function. Virology 331, 63-72.

- [316] Ning, S., Huye, L.E. and Pagano, J.S. (2005) Regulation of the transcriptional activity of the IRF7 promoter by a pathway independent of interferon signaling. J Biol Chem 280, 12262-70.
- [317] Lu, R., Au, W.C., Yeow, W.S., Hageman, N. and Pitha, P.M. (2000) Regulation of the promoter activity of interferon regulatory factor-7 gene. Activation by interferon and silencing by hypermethylation. J Biol Chem 275, 31805-12.
- [318] Johansen, L.H. and Sommer, A.I. (2001) Infectious pancreatic necrosis virus infection in Atlantic salmon Salmo salar post-smolts affects the outcome of secondary infections with infectious salmon anaemia virus or Vibrio salmonicida. Dis Aquat Organ 47, 109-17.
- [319] Sommer, A.I. and Mennen, S. (1997) Multiplication and haemadsorbing activity of infectious salmon anaemia virus in the established Atlantic salmon cell line. J Gen Virol 78, 1891-5.
- [320] Sgarbanti, M., Marsili, G., Remoli, A.L., Orsatti, R. and Battistini, A. (2007) IRF-7: new role in the regulation of genes involved in adaptive immunity. Ann N Y Acad Sci 1095, 325-33.
- [321] Honda, K., Yanai, H., Takaoka, A. and Taniguchi, T. (2005) Regulation of the type I IFN induction: a current view. Int Immunol 17, 1367-78.
- [322] Melen, K., Kinnunen, L., Fagerlund, R., Ikonen, N., Twu, K.Y., Krug, R.M. and Julkunen, I. (2007) Nuclear and nucleolar targeting of influenza A virus NS1 protein: striking differences between different virus subtypes. J Virol 81, 5995-6006.

Paper I

## **Paper II**

## **Paper III**

## **Paper IV**

